Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for the contents of this announcement, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this announcement.

This announcement is for information purposes only and does not constitute or form part of and should not be construed as, an invitation or offer to acquire, purchase, subscribe, sell or issue securities or an invitation to enter into any agreement to do any such things, nor is it calculated to invite any offer to acquire, purchase or subscribe for any securities.

The information contained in this announcement is not for distribution or circulation, directly or indirectly, in or into the United States. This announcement is solely for the purpose of reference and does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any securities in the United States or any other jurisdiction in which such offer, solicitation or sale would be unlawful prior to registration or qualification under the securities laws of any such jurisdiction. The securities referred to herein have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), and may not be offered or sold within the United States, except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act.

# 0.90% CONVERTIBLE BONDS DUE 2024

(ISIN: XS2089158609, Common Code: 208915860) (the "Bonds" and the holders of such Bonds, the "Bondholders") ISSUED BY



# CHINA YUHUA EDUCATION CORPORATION LIMITED

# 中国字华教育集团有限公司

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

(Stock Code: 6169 and Debt Stock Code: 40109)

#### NOTICE OF MEETING FOR BONDHOLDERS

This announcement is made by China YuHua Education Corporation Limited (the "Company", together with its subsidiaries and consolidated affiliated entities, the "Group") pursuant to Rule 13.09(2) of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange") (the "Listing Rules") and the Inside Information Provisions (as defined under the Listing Rules) under Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

Reference is made to the Bonds and the announcements of the Company dated 29 November 2024 and 27 December 2024 (collectively, the "Announcements").

Capitalised terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Notice (as defined below) and the Announcements (as applicable).

The Company has today issued and disseminated to Bondholders a notice (dated 17 January 2025) (the "Notice") in accordance with the provisions of the Trust Deed to convene a meeting (the "Meeting") of the Bondholders that will be held at the offices of Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom at 42/F, Edinburgh Tower, The Landmark, 15 Queen's Road Central, Hong Kong at 10:00 a.m. (London time) on 10 February 2025, to request the Bondholders to consider and, if thought fit, approve and pass the Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the Notice) (which requires a majority of at least 75 per cent. of the votes cast at the Meeting), which will provide for certain amendments and waivers in relation to the Bonds, as more fully described in the Notice.

Bondholders may inspect copies of all the relevant document electronically by visiting the Transaction Website: https://projects.sodali.com/ChinaYuHua (the "**Transaction Website**"), subject to eligibility confirmation and registration.

#### **BACKGROUND**

As mentioned in the Company's announcement dated 27 December 2024, under the Bond Conditions, the Bonds have a maturity date of 27 December 2024 whereby on such date the Company is required to redeem all the Bonds at its principal amount together with accrued and unpaid interest thereon.

The Company and an ad-hoc group of bondholders who collectively hold or are economically entitled to at least 75 per cent. of the outstanding principal amount of the Bonds have reached an agreement and entered into a standstill agreement on 27 December 2024 which sets out the Parties' in-principle agreement to implement and otherwise give effect to the transactions set out in the term sheet (the "**Proposed Transactions**"). The terms of the Proposed Transactions are set out in the Notice, the form of 2nd supplemental trust deed (attached hereto as Exhibit A) and the form of 2nd supplemental agency agreement (attached here to as Exhibit B) and include, among other things, the Proposed Amendments and the Proposed Waivers.

The Company expects to commence the process of seeking the approval to implement the Proposed Transactions by way of meeting as soon as reasonably practicable. Against this background, the Company wishes to set out the details of the Meeting for Bondholders to consider and approve the Proposals to be approved by extraordinary resolution as set out in the Notice.

THIS NOTICE IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION. IF YOU ARE IN DOUBT ABOUT ANY ASPECT OF THE PROPOSALS DESCRIBED IN THIS NOTICE AND/OR THE ACTION YOU SHOULD TAKE, YOU SHOULD CONSULT IMMEDIATELY YOUR STOCKBROKER, BANK MANAGER, SOLICITOR, ACCOUNTANT OR OTHER PROFESSIONAL ADVISER AUTHORISED UNDER THE FINANCIAL SERVICES AND MARKETS ACT 2000 (IF YOU ARE IN THE UNITED KINGDOM) OR FROM ANOTHER APPROPRIATELY AUTHORISED INDEPENDENT FINANCIAL ADVISER. NONE OF THE TRUSTEE OR THE AGENTS MAKES ANY RECOMMENDATION AS TO WHETHER OR NOT OR HOW BONDHOLDERS SHOULD VOTE IN RESPECT OF THE PROPOSAL.

THIS NOTICE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE AN OFFER TO SELL OR A SOLICITATION OF AN OFFER TO BUY ANY SECURITY AND IS BEING SENT TO BONDHOLDERS SOLELY IN THEIR CAPACITY AS SUCH IN CONNECTION WITH THE MEETING.

THE DISTRIBUTION OF THIS NOTICE MAY BE RESTRICTED BY LAW IN CERTAIN JURISDICTIONS AND PERSONS INTO WHOSE POSSESSION THIS NOTICE COMES ARE REQUESTED TO INFORM THEMSELVES ABOUT, AND TO OBSERVE, ANY SUCH RESTRICTIONS.

IF YOU HAVE RECENTLY SOLD OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED YOUR ENTIRE HOLDING(S) OF BONDS REFERRED TO BELOW, YOU SHOULD IMMEDIATELY FORWARD THIS NOTICE TO THE PURCHASER OR TRANSFEREE OR TO THE STOCKBROKER, BANK OR OTHER AGENT THROUGH WHOM THE SALE OR TRANSFER WAS EFFECTED FOR TRANSMISSION TO THE PURCHASER OR TRANSFEREE.

# CHINA YUHUA EDUCATION CORPORATION LIMITED

(the "Issuer")

#### NOTICE OF MEETING

of the holders of the

# 0.90 PER CENT. CONVERTIBLE BONDS DUE 2024

(the "Notice")

(ISIN: XS2089158609, Common Code: 208915860) (the "Bonds" and the holders of such Bonds, the "Bondholders")

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that, pursuant to the provisions of Schedule 3 to the trust deed dated 27 December 2019 (the "Original Trust Deed"), as amended by the 1st supplemental trust deed dated 19 January 2023 (the "1st Supplemental Trust Deed"), constituting the Bonds and made among the Issuer and The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch as trustee (the "Trustee") for the Bondholders (the Original Trust Deed and

the 1st Supplemental Trust Deed, together, the "**Trust Deed**"), a meeting of the holders of the Bonds convened by the Issuer (the "**Meeting**") will be held at the offices of Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom at 42/F, Edinburgh Tower, The Landmark, 15 Queen's Road Central, Hong Kong at 10:00 a.m. (London time)/6:00 p.m. (Hong Kong time) on 10 February 2025, for the purpose of considering and, if thought fit, passing the following resolution which will be proposed as an Extraordinary Resolution (the "**Extraordinary Resolution**") (which requires a majority of at least 75 per cent. of the votes cast at the Meeting) in accordance with the provisions of the Trust Deed.

Unless the context otherwise requires, capitalised terms used but not defined in this Notice shall have the meaning given in the Trust Deed.

As at the date of this Notice, the principal amount of the Bonds outstanding is HK\$913,868,385.35.1

Any Bondholder voting in favour of the Extraordinary Resolution shall be entitled to a consent fee in the form of Warrants (as defined below) or cash in the event that the Issuer has not issued the relevant Warrants by the Warrants Long Stop Date (as defined below) or if the shareholders of the Issuer by way of a general meeting have failed to pass the proposal for the issuance of the Warrants (whichever earlier), as set forth in "Consent Fee" below.

#### **EXTRAORDINARY RESOLUTION**

It is proposed that the Meeting consider the Proposals (as defined below) and approve the Proposals by Extraordinary Resolution.

The terms of the Extraordinary Resolution are as follows:

"THAT this meeting (the "Meeting") of the holders of the outstanding 0.90 per cent. Convertible Bonds due 2024 (ISIN: XS2089158609, Common Code: 208915860) (the "Bonds") issued by China YuHua Education Corporation Limited (the "Issuer") constituted by the trust deed dated 27 December 2019 (the "Original Trust Deed"), as amended by the 1st supplemental trust deed dated 19 January 2023 between the Issuer and The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch as trustee (the "Trustee") for the Bondholders (the "1st Supplemental Trust Deed", together with the Original Trust Deed, the "Trust Deed"), of which currently HK\$913,868,385.35 aggregate principal amount is outstanding, HEREBY RESOLVES TO:

1. assent, sanction and approve the Proposed Amendments;

A Pool Factor currently applies to the Bonds held through the Clearing Systems.

- 2. assent, sanction and approve the following Proposed Waivers:
  - a. any Potential Event of Default or Event of Default that has occurred or may occur directly as a result of the Non-Payment Event;
  - b. any Potential Event of Default or Event of Default that has occurred or may occur directly as a result of (a) the Issuer's failure to deliver a notice in accordance with Condition 8(D) of the Conditions in respect of the Relevant Event which has occurred or may occur due to the Shares being suspended from trading on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 2 December 2024 (the "2nd Applicable Relevant Event") and (b) any failure by the Issuer to redeem the Bonds in accordance with Condition 8(D) of the Conditions due to the 2nd Applicable Relevant Event; and
  - c. any default interest accruing on the Bonds in accordance with Condition 7(E) of the Conditions ("**Default Interest Waiver**") provided however that the Default Interest Waiver shall be void *ab initio* if the Issuer fails to comply with its obligations in accordance with the Proposed Amendments.
- 3. authorise, request, empower and direct the Trustee to concur in and to execute and do, all such other deeds, instruments, acts and things, and to take all steps as may be necessary, desirable or expedient to carry out and give effect to this Extraordinary Resolution and the implementation of the Proposals;
- 4. authorise, request, empower, instruct and direct the Trustee to concur with the Proposals and, in order to give effect thereto and to implement the same, forthwith to execute and deliver the Proposed Amendment Documents in the form of the drafts attached to this Extraordinary Resolution with such amendments or waiver (if any) thereto as the Trustee shall require, on the Further Implementation Date (as defined in the Conditions in the form of 2nd supplemental trust deed set forth in Exhibit A to this Extraordinary Resolution). The Proposed Amendments will become effective upon the execution of the Proposed Amendment Documents;
- 5. agree and confirm that the Trustee and the Agents are not required to request or receive any legal opinions in relation to the Proposals, this Extraordinary Resolution or its implementation, the modifications referred to in this Extraordinary Resolution or the implementation of those modifications;

- 6. discharge, waive and exonerate the Trustee from all loss or liability to Bondholders for which it may have become or may become liable or responsible under the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement or the Bonds in respect of any act or omission in connection with the Proposals, the Proposed Amendment Documents, this Extraordinary Resolution or its implementation, the modifications referred to in this Extraordinary Resolution or the implementation of those modifications even if it is found subsequently that there is any defect with the passing of this Extraordinary Resolution or for any reason this Extraordinary Resolution is not binding on current or subsequent Bondholders or their heirs or assignees; and
- 7. acknowledge that as used in this Extraordinary Resolution:
- "Adjourned Meeting" means any adjourned meeting of Bondholders to be held on a date being not less than 14 days nor more than 42 days following the adjournment of the relevant Meeting, and at such time and place as the chairman of the relevant Meeting may decide in accordance with the Trust Deed.
- "Adjournment Instruction Deadline" means the time which is 48 hours prior to the time and date fixed for any Adjourned Meeting.
- "Business Day" means a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday) on which commercial banks are open for business in Hong Kong, London and Dublin.

"Electronic Voting Instruction" means the electronic voting and blocking instruction which must be submitted through the relevant Clearing System by each Euroclear/Clearstream Direct Participants, instructing the relevant Clearing System that the vote(s) attributable to the Bonds the subject of such electronic voting instruction should be cast in a particular way (either in favour, against or abstain from voting) in relation to the Extraordinary Resolution, which instruction shall form part of a Proxy Form to be issued by the Registered Holder appointing two or more representatives of the Tabulation and Information Agent (nominated by it) as proxy in relation to a corresponding Meeting.

Beneficial Owners of Bonds cleared through Clearing Systems that are of record held by a broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee must instruct such broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee to deliver such electronic voting instruction on such Beneficial Owner's behalf. If such Beneficial Owner wishes to issue an electronic voting instruction itself, such Beneficial Owner must either make appropriate arrangements to be recorded as a Euroclear/Clearstream Direct Participants (if permitted) or otherwise follow the procedures above.

"Li Family" means Mr. Li Guangyu and Ms. Li Hua, their spouses or immediate family members or any trust established by any of them for their own benefit or for the benefit of any of their immediate family members.

"Non-Payment Event" means any non-payment by the Issuer of the principal amount due and payable pursuant to Condition 8 of the Conditions.

"Original Consenting Bondholders" means an ad-hoc group of bondholders who entered into the Standstill Agreement with the Issuer on 27 December 2024.

"**Pool Factor**" means the outstanding principal balance of the Bonds divided by the original principal balance of the Bonds with the result expressed as a decimal.

"Proposals" means the Proposed Amendments and Proposed Waivers.

"**Proposed Amendments**" means the amendments indicated in the Proposed Amendment Documents.

### "Proposed Amendment Documents" means:

- (1) the form of 2nd supplemental trust deed set forth in Exhibit A to this Extraordinary Resolution; and
- (ii) the form of 2nd supplemental agency agreement set forth in Exhibit B to this Extraordinary Resolution,

in each case to be executed in order to give effect to the Proposed Amendments in the event that the Extraordinary Resolution is approved by Bondholders at the Meeting by a majority of at least 75 per cent. of the votes cast.

"**Proposed Waivers**" means the waivers set forth in paragraph 2 of this Extraordinary Resolution.

"Standstill Agreement" means an agreement entered into between the Issuer and the Original Consenting Bondholders on 27 December 2024.

"Warrants" means the 182,000,000 in aggregate number of warrants to be issued by the Issuer to be exercisable at the option of the holder of such warrants at any time during the period from and including the date of issue of the warrants up to and including the date falling 3 years from such date of issue; the number of shares initially deliverable per Warrant shall be 1 Share at the warrant exercise price of HK\$0.50 per Share subject to adjustment upon occurrence of certain customary events as provided in the terms and conditions of the Warrants.

Except as otherwise defined, capitalised terms used in this Extraordinary Resolution will have the same meanings given to them in the Trust Deed."

### **Documents Available for Inspection**

Bondholders may inspect copies of the following documents electronically by visiting the Transaction Website: https://projects.sodali.com/ChinaYuHua (the "**Transaction Website**"), subject to eligibility confirmation and registration. The Transaction Website has been set up by the Tabulation and Information Agent such that Bondholders may access the following documents, as well as any further announcements and updates, if any:

- this Notice;
- the Indicative Summary Terms of the Warrants;
- the Trust Deed dated 27 December 2019 constituting the Bonds;
- the 1st Supplemental Trust Deed dated 19 January 2023 constituting the Bonds;
- the Agency Agreement dated 27 December 2019 in respect of the Bonds;
- the 1st Supplemental Agency Agreement dated 19 January 2023 in respect of the Bonds:
- the form of 2nd supplemental trust deed; and
- the form of 2nd supplemental agency agreement.

#### **Indicative Timeline**

Set forth below is an indicative timeline with certain key dates with respect to the Meeting and Extraordinary Resolution:

- 17 January 2025: This Notice is provided to Bondholders through the Clearing Systems (as defined below);
- 4:00 p.m. (London time), 5 February 2025: The Expiration Time, being the deadline to submit valid Electronic Voting Instructions in relation to the Extraordinary Resolution through the Clearing Systems and for making any other arrangements to attend or be represented to vote at the Meeting;

- 10:00 a.m. (London time)/6:00 p.m. (Hong Kong time), 10 February 2025: Date and time of Bondholder Meeting;
- As soon as practicable and by no later than one Business Day after conclusion of the Meeting: Notice of the Result of the Meeting to be provided to Bondholders through the Clearing Systems;
- Effectiveness of the Proposed Waivers will be immediate upon the date on which the Extraordinary Resolution has been approved by the Bondholders at the Meeting by a majority of at least 75 per cent. of the votes cast;
- The Proposed Amendments will be implemented no later than two Business Days after the date on which the Extraordinary Resolution is passed and will be effective immediately upon the execution of the Proposed Amendment Documents; and
- 31 May 2025 (the "Warrants Long Stop Date"): The Warrants Long Stop Date, being the latest time for the Company to pay to each Bondholder who votes in favour of the Extraordinary Resolution, a consent fee in the form of Warrants.

#### General

The terms of the Proposals and the Extraordinary Resolution have not been formulated or negotiated by the Trustee and/or the Agents and nothing in this Notice should be construed as a recommendation to Bondholders from the Trustee and/or the Agents to vote in favour of, against, or abstain from voting in respect of the Extraordinary Resolution. Nothing in this Notice should be construed as a recommendation to the Bondholders from the Issuer, the Trustee and/or the Agents to either approve or reject the Extraordinary Resolution. Bondholders should take their own independent legal and financial advice on the merits and on the consequences of voting in favour of or against the relevant Extraordinary Resolution, including any tax consequences.

The Trustee and the Agents are not responsible for the accuracy, completeness, validity or correctness of the statements made and documents referred to in the Proposals, the Extraordinary Resolution or this Notice or any omissions therefrom.

By submitting an Electronic Voting Instruction the Bonds will be blocked at the relevant Clearing System account and will be unblocked promptly following the applicable Meeting.

Notwithstanding anything else contained in this Notice or any other document in connection hereto, the Tabulation and Information Agent may refrain without liability from doing anything that would or might in its opinion be contrary to any law (including any sanctions (as that term is defined herein)) or may result in the Tabulation and Information Agent becoming a Sanctions Restricted Person (as that term is defined below)) and may without liability do anything which is, in its opinion, necessary to comply with sanctions or to avoid becoming a Sanctions Restricted Person (as that term is defined below).

A "Sanctions Restricted Person" is an individual or entity (a "Person"): (a) that is, or (to the extent ownership or control subjects such Person to the relevant sanctions under applicable law or regulatory guidance) is owned or controlled by a Person that is, described or designated in (i) the most current "Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked **Persons**" list (which as of the date hereof can be found at: https://www.treasury.gov/ resource-center/sanctions/SDNList/Pages/default.aspx) or (ii) the Foreign Sanctions Evaders List (which as of the date hereof can be found at: http://www.treasury.gov/ofac/downloads/ fse/fselist.pdf) or (iii) the most current "Consolidated list of persons, groups and entities subject to EU financial sanctions" (which as of the date hereof can be found at: https:// eeas.europa.eu/headquarters/headquartershomepage en/8442/Consolidated%20list%20 of%20sanctions); or (b) that is otherwise the subject of any sanctions administered or enforced by any Sanctions Authority, other than solely by virtue of their inclusion in, or their ownership or control by Persons included in: (i) the most current "Sectoral Sanctions Identifications" list (which as of the date hereof can be found at: http://www.treasury.gov/ resourcecenter/sanctions/SDNList/Pages/ssi\_list.aspx) (the "SSI List"), (ii) Annexes III, IV, V and VI of Council Regulation No. 833/2014, as amended by Council Regulation No. 960/2014 (the "EU Annexes"), (iii) the consolidated list of financial sanctions targets in the United Kingdom (which as of the date hereof can be found at: https://www.gov.uk/ government/publications/financialsanctions-consolidated-list-oftargets/consolidated-list-oftargets) (the "UK List") or (iv) any other list maintained by a Sanctions Authority, with similar effect to the SSI List, the EU Annexes or the UK List.

The attention of Bondholders is particularly drawn to the quorum required for the Meeting and for an Adjourned Meeting which is set forth in "Attendance and Quorum" below.

This Notice of Meeting and together with other relevant documents are available on Transaction Website: https://projects.sodali.com/ChinaYuHua. Questions or requests for assistance in connection with voting at any relevant Meeting (or any Adjourned Meeting) and/or the delivery of Electronic Voting Instructions may be directed to the Tabulation and Information Agent to the attention of Debt Services Team on telephone: +852 2319 4130 (Hong Kong); +44 20 4513 6933 (London) or email: chinayuhua@investor.sodali.com.

#### **Consent Fee**

The Issuer shall, as soon as practicable within 10 Business Days after the approval of the Warrants at the Issuer's annual general meeting upon entering into the Standstill Agreement and in any event no later than 31 May 2025 (the "Warrants Long Stop Date"), pay to each Bondholder, who votes in favour of the Extraordinary Resolution on or prior to the Expiration Time, a consent fee in the form of, and equal to such Bondholder's Pro Rata Share (as defined below) of, Warrants (in the form as substantially set forth in the Indicative Summary Terms of the Warrants). "Pro Rata Share" means the portion of the (a) Bonds held by a Bondholder, or to which a Bondholder has an economic interest, in each case, who votes in favour of the Extraordinary Resolution on or prior to the Expiration Time, as a percentage of (b) the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Bonds that have been validly voted in favour of the Extraordinary Resolution on or prior to the Expiration Time. For the avoidance of doubt, the aggregate outstanding principal amount of Bonds, in each case, will be subject to the Pool Factor as applied by the Clearing Systems.

Fractions of Warrants will not be issued with respect to the consent fee and no cash payment or other adjustment will be made in lieu thereof. However, if the Pro Rata Share in respect of more than one Bond has consented in respect of such Electronic Voting Instruction, the number of Warrants to be issued in respect thereof shall be calculated on the basis of the aggregate principal amount of such Bonds having so consented and rounded down to the nearest whole number of Warrants.

In the event that the Issuer has not issued the relevant Warrants by the Warrants Long Stop Date or if the shareholders of the Issuer by way of a general meeting have failed to pass the proposal for the issuance of the Warrants (whichever earlier), the Issuer shall notify and, no later than 2 Business Days after the Warrants Long Stop Date, pay to each Bondholder, who votes in favour of the Extraordinary Resolution on or prior to the Expiration Time, its Pro Rata Share of the consent fee of HK\$70,500,000 in cash in lieu of its Pro Rata Share of the Warrants; provided that, in the event that the failure of the issuance of the Warrants is not within the Li Family's control, upon a notice being issued and disseminated to the Bondholders who votes in favour of the Extraordinary Resolution, the Issuer and the Original Consenting Bondholders shall negotiate for a solution within a period of one month from the date of such notice, and, should such negotiation fail, the Issuer shall notify and, no later than one month after the Warrants Long Stop Date, pay to each Bondholder, who votes in favour of the Extraordinary Resolution on or prior to the Expiration Time, its Pro Rata Share of the consent fee of HK\$70,500,000 in cash in lieu of its Pro Rata Share of the Warrants.

The Issuer is solely responsible for the issue of Warrants and the payment of any consent fee. None of the Trustee and the Agents is responsible for the determination of any Bondholder's eligibility to receive any consent fee or Warrant, including as to the satisfaction of any conditions precedent. None of the Trustee and the Agents shall be responsible for the payment of any consent fee or issuance or delivery of any Warrant and will not be responsible to the Bondholders or any other person for any loss arising from any failure or delay by the Issuer in respect thereof.

### **Voting**

All Bondholders are entitled to vote and deliver an Electronic Voting Instruction through the Clearing Systems. A Bondholder may in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Proposals:

- a) approve the Extraordinary Resolution by voting at the Meeting (in person or by proxy) or communicating a valid Electronic Voting Instruction through the Clearing Systems in favour of the Extraordinary Resolution;
- b) disapprove the Extraordinary Resolution by voting at the Meeting (in person or by proxy) or communicating a valid Electronic Voting Instruction through the Clearing Systems against the Extraordinary Resolution;
- c) abstain from voting on the Extraordinary Resolution at the Meeting (in person or by proxy) or communicating a valid Electronic Voting Instruction through the Clearing Systems specifying its abstention on the Extraordinary Resolution; or
- d) arrange for a proxy other than the Tabulation and Information Agent to attend the Meeting in person by communicating a valid Electronic Voting Instruction through the Clearing Systems to attend the Meeting in person.

If the Bondholder wishes to attend the Meeting in person, the relevant Electronic Voting Instructions submitted though the Clearing Systems will need to indicate the name of the attendee, their email address and passport number. Separate instruction must be submitted on behalf of each Bondholder looking to attend the Meeting in person.

No consent fee will be payable to Bondholders looking to attend the Meeting in person or those who disapprove or abstain from voting.

Electronic Voting Instruction must be delivered in minimum denominations of HK\$2,000,000 and integral multiples of HK\$1,000,000 in excess thereof.

#### **Attendance and Quorum**

- 1. The provisions governing the convening and holding of the Meeting are set forth in Schedule 3 (Provisions for Meetings of Bondholders) to the Trust Deed, a copy of which is available for inspection as described above. The Bonds are currently represented by a global certificate (the "Global Certificate") held by and registered in the name of The Bank of New York Depository (Nominees) Limited (the "Registered Holder") as nominee for the common depositary of Euroclear and Clearstream (the "Clearing Systems", each a "Clearing System"). Each person who is the owner of a particular principal amount of the Bonds (a "Beneficial Owner"), and each person as shown in the records of Euroclear or Clearstream or its accountholders as the holder of a particular principal amount outstanding of the Bonds ("Euroclear/Clearstream Direct Participants"), should note that such Beneficial Owner will not be a Bondholder for the purposes of this Notice of Meeting and will only be entitled to vote at the Meeting or to cause the appointment of a proxy to do so in accordance with the procedures set forth below. On this basis, the only Bondholder for the purposes of this Notice of Meeting will be the registered holder of the Global Certificate which is The Bank of New York Depository (Nominees) Limited, as nominee for a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream.
- 2. Beneficial Owners or their Euroclear/Clearstream Direct Participants must have made arrangements to vote with the relevant Clearing System by not later than 48 hours before the time fixed for the Meeting (or any Adjourned Meeting) and within the relevant time limit specified by the relevant Clearing System and request or make arrangements for the relevant Clearing System to block the Bonds in the relevant Euroclear/Clearstream Direct Participant's account and to hold the same to the order of the Registrar until after the conclusion of the Meeting, or in the case of an adjournment thereof, until the conclusion of such Adjourned Meeting.

- 3. The Registered Holder will appoint proxies for the Meeting (or any Adjourned Meeting) by executing and delivering a form of proxy in English to the Registrar not less than 48 hours before the time fixed for the Meeting (or any Adjourned Meeting).
- 4. The Extraordinary Resolution may only be considered at the Meeting if the Meeting is quorate. The quorum required at the Meeting in respect of the Extraordinary Resolution is two or more persons present in person holding Bonds or being proxies or representatives and holding or representing in the aggregate not less than 66 per cent. in principal amount of the Bonds then outstanding. To satisfy the requirements under the Trust Deed for a quorum at the Meeting, a minimum of two representatives of the Tabulation and Information Agent will be appointed as proxies by the Registered Holder.
- 5. If within 15 minutes after the time appointed for the Meeting, a quorum is not present, the Meeting shall be dissolved if the Issuer and the Trustee agree or in any other case stand adjourned for such period, being not less than 14 days nor more than 42 days, and to such time and place as the chairman of the Meeting may decide. At any Adjourned Meeting two or more persons present in person holding Bonds or being proxies or representatives and holding or representing in the aggregate not less than 33 per cent. in principal amount of the Bonds then outstanding shall form a quorum and shall have power to pass any resolution and to decide upon all matters which could properly have been dealt with at the Meeting from which the adjournment took place had the requisite quorum been present.
- 6. Valid Electronic Voting Instructions delivered and not amended or (if revocable) validly revoked (in the limited circumstances in which such revocation is permitted) prior to the Meeting shall remain valid for any Adjourned Meeting. If the Meeting is adjourned, Electronic Voting Instructions may thereafter be amended or (if revocable) validly revoked on or before the Adjournment Instruction Deadline. If the Meeting is adjourned, Bondholders who have not already submitted Electronic Voting Instructions on or prior to the Expiration Time may submit Electronic Voting Instructions during the period commencing at the conclusion of the original Meeting and ending on the Adjournment Instruction Deadline.
- 7. Every question submitted to the Meeting (or any Adjourned Meeting) shall be decided by a show of hands unless a poll is (before, or on the declaration of the result of, the show of hands) demanded by any of the chairman, the Issuer, the Trustee or one or more persons representing not less than 2 per cent. of the Bonds pursuant to paragraph 14 of Schedule 3 to the Trust Deed.
- 8. On a poll every person who is present and who produces a Bond or is a proxy shall have one vote in respect of each HK\$1,000,000 in principal amount of Bonds held or in respect of which they are a proxy or representative.

9. To be passed, the Extraordinary Resolution requires majority of at least 75 per cent. of the votes cast at the Meeting.

10. If passed, the Extraordinary Resolution will be binding upon all Bondholders, whether or not they were represented at the Meeting and whether or not they voted at the Meeting (or Adjourned Meeting, as applicable).

11. This Notice of Meeting and the information contained herein is not an offer to sell securities.

### **Governing Law**

This Notice, and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with it, is governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, English law.

# **Notification of Result of Meeting**

The Issuer undertakes to notify the Bondholders of the result of the Meeting (or any Adjourned Meeting) in accordance with the provisions of Condition 11 (Notices) of the Conditions by no later than one Business Day after the date on which the Meeting (or any Adjourned Meeting, as the case may be) is held.

# **Clearing Systems**

Holders of Bonds which are held by Clearstream or Euroclear should contact the relevant corporate action departments within the Clearing Systems for further information in respect of their respective procedures for voting.

#### **Additional Information**

For additional information, Bondholders should contact the Tabulation and Information Agent, whose contact details are set forth in the last page of this Notice.

This Notice is given by the Issuer.

17 January 2025

#### TABULATION AND INFORMATION AGENT

Morrow Sodali Limited trading as Sodali & Co Transaction Website: https://projects.sodali.com/ChinaYuHua E-mail: chinayuhua@investor.sodali.com

In Hong Kong
29/F
No. 28 Stanley Street
Central
Hong Kong
Telephone: +852 2319 4130

In London
The Leadenhall Building
122 Leadenhall Street
London EC3V 4AB
United Kingdom
Telephone: +44 20 4513 6933

#### TRUSTEE AND PRINCIPAL AGENT

The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch 160 Queen Victoria Street EC4V 4LA United Kingdom

Attention: Trustee Administration Manager

With a copy to:

The Bank of New York Mellon, Hong Kong Branch Level 26, Three Pacific Place 1 Queen's Road East Hong Kong

Attention: Global Corporate Trust

# REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER AGENT

The Bank of New York Mellon SA/NV, Luxembourg Branch Vertigo Building - Polaris 2–4, rue Eugène Ruppert L-2453 Luxembourg

# **ISSUER**

China YuHua Education Corporation Limited
31/F, Tower Two
Times Square
1 Matheson Street
Causeway Bay
Hong Kong

# By order of the Board China YuHua Education Corporation Limited Li Guangyu

Chairman and Executive Director

### Hong Kong, 17 January 2025

As at the date of this announcement, the Board comprises Mr. Li Guangyu, Ms. Li Hua and Ms. Qiu Hongjun as executive Directors; and Mr. Chen Lei, Mr. Zhang Zhixue and Ms. Fan Nannan as independent non-executive Directors.

Trading in the shares of the Company (Stock Code: 6169) on the Stock Exchange has been suspended since 9:00 a.m. on 2 December 2024 due to the delay in publication of the annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 August 2024 and will remain suspended until the publication of the 2024 Annual Results. Shareholders of the Company and potential investors should exercise caution when dealing in the securities of the Company.

THIS ANNOUNCEMENT IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES THE IMMEDIATE ATTENTION OF BONDHOLDERS. IF BONDHOLDERS ARE IN ANY DOUBT AS TO THE ACTION THEY SHOULD TAKE, THEY SHOULD SEEK THEIR OWN FINANCIAL AND LEGAL ADVICE, INCLUDING AS TO ANY TAX CONSEQUENCES, IMMEDIATELY FROM THEIR STOCKBROKER, SOLICITOR, ACCOUNTANT OR OTHER INDEPENDENT FINANCIAL OR LEGAL ADVISOR.

THIS ANNOUNCEMENT IS PROVIDED BY THE COMPANY. THE TRUSTEE ACCEPTS NO RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS OF THIS ANNOUNCEMENT OR THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN IT.

SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY, HOLDERS OF THE BONDS AND POTENTIAL INVESTORS IN THE COMPANY ARE ADVISED TO EXERCISE CAUTION WHEN DEALING IN THE SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY.

# Exhibit A

# Form of 2<sup>nd</sup> Supplemental Trust Deed

# Linklaters

# SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL TRUST DEED

relating to HK\$2,088,000,000 0.90 per cent. Convertible Bonds due 2024 convertible into ordinary shares of China YuHua Education Corporation Limited

Dated [●] 2025

# CHINA YUHUA EDUCATION CORPORATION LIMITED

as Issuer

and

# THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON, LONDON BRANCH

as Trustee

### **Table of Contents**

Cont	tents F	Page
1	Interpretation	1
2	Amendments	2
3	Global Certificate	4
4	Further Assurance	4
5	Stamp Duties and Taxes	5
6	Counterparts	5
7	Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999	5
8	Governing Law and Jurisdiction	5
SCH	EDULE 1 Form of Global Certificate	7
SCH	FDULE 2 Terms and Conditions of the Bonds	15

This Supplemental Trust Deed is made on [●] 2025 between:

- (1) CHINA YUHUA EDUCATION CORPORATION LIMITED, incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability (the "Issuer"); and
- (2) THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON, LONDON BRANCH, a banking corporation organised and existing under the laws of the State of New York with limited liability and operating through its branch in London at 160 Queen Victoria Street, London EC4V 4LA, United Kingdom, as the trustee (the "Trustee", which expression, where the context so admits, includes any other trustee for the time being of this Trust Deed).

#### Whereas:

- (A) The Issuer issued HK\$2,088,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 0.90 per cent. convertible bonds due 2024 (the "Bonds") on 27 December 2019 (the "Issue Date") which were constituted by the trust deed dated 27 December 2019 between the Issuer and the Trustee in relation to the Bonds (the "Original Trust Deed"). On 18 January 2023, the holders of the Bonds assented and consented to certain amendments and waivers relating to the Bonds and authorised, directed, requested and empowered the Trustee to assent and consent to such amendments and waivers and for the Issuer and the Trustee to enter into, inter alia, a supplemental trust deed dated 19 January 2023 in relation to the Bonds (the "First Supplemental Trust Deed" and the Original Trust Deed as amended and supplemented by the First Supplemental Trust Deed, being the "Subsisting Trust Deed").
- (B) By an extraordinary resolution dated [●] 2025 (the "Extraordinary Resolution"), the holders of the Bonds assented and consented to certain amendments and waivers relating to the Bonds and authorised, directed, requested and empowered the Trustee to assent and consent to such amendments and waivers and for the Issuer and the Trustee to enter into, inter alia, this supplemental trust deed (this "Second Supplemental Trust Deed").
- (C) The parties hereto wish to amend the Subsisting Trust Deed as provided herein, and this Second Supplemental Trust Deed will amend and supplement the Subsisting Trust Deed with effect from the date hereof.
- (D) The parties hereto intend this document to take effect as a deed.

This Second Supplemental Trust Deed witnesses and it is declared as follows:

#### 1 Interpretation

#### 1.1 Definitions

Unless otherwise defined in this Second Supplemental Trust Deed (including the recitals hereto), terms defined or construed in the Subsisting Trust Deed shall have the same meanings or construction in this Second Supplemental Trust Deed.

In addition, all references in the Subsisting Trust Deed to "this Trust Deed", the "Trust Deed", "this Supplemental Trust Deed" and the "Supplemental Trust Deed" shall be deemed to refer to the Subsisting Trust Deed as supplemented by this Second Supplemental Trust Deed and all references to the "Agency Agreement" in the Subsisting Trust Deed shall be deemed to refer to the paying, conversion and transfer agency agreement dated 27 December 2019 in respect of the Bonds, as amended and supplemented by the supplemental agency agreement dated 19 January 2023 and the second supplemental agency agreement dated [•] 2025, and as further amended and/or supplemented from time to time.

#### 1.2 Construction

Clauses 1.2 (Construction of Certain References), 1.3 (Headings), 1.4 (Schedules), 1.5 (Clauses) and Clause 1.8 (Amended Documents) of the Subsisting Trust Deed shall have effect, mutatis mutandis, as if set out in full in this Second Supplemental Trust Deed.

#### 1.3 Effect of this Second Supplemental Trust Deed

This Second Supplemental Trust Deed is supplemental to the Subsisting Trust Deed and this Second Supplemental Trust Deed and the Subsisting Trust Deed (as amended pursuant to this Second Supplemental Trust Deed) shall be read and construed together as one deed, provided always that in the event of any inconsistency between the Subsisting Trust Deed and this Second Supplemental Trust Deed, the provisions of this Second Supplemental Trust Deed shall override such inconsistent provisions of the Subsisting Trust Deed. Each of the amendments contemplated by this Second Supplemental Trust Deed shall take effect from the date of this Second Supplemental Trust Deed. Save for the amendments to the Subsisting Trust Deed confirmed by this Second Supplemental Trust Deed, all terms and conditions of the Subsisting Trust Deed shall remain in full force and effect.

#### 2 Amendments

On and from the date of this Second Supplemental Trust Deed, the Subsisting Trust Deed (which include the Conditions of the Bonds) shall be amended as follows:

the definition of "outstanding" in clause 1.1 of the Subsisting Trust Deed shall be amended with the following words in underlined added:

"outstanding" means, in relation to the Bonds, all the Bonds issued except (a) those which have been redeemed in accordance with the Conditions, (b) those in respect of which the date for redemption has occurred and the redemption moneys (including the premium, if any), all interest accrued on such Bonds to the date for such redemption and any interest payable under the Conditions after such date) (if any) have been duly paid to the Trustee or to the Principal Agent as provided in Clause 2 and remain available for payment in accordance with the Conditions, (c) those which have become void or in respect of which claims have become prescribed, (d) those which have been purchased and cancelled as provided in the Conditions, (e) those in respect of which the Conversion Right has been duly exercised and discharged (and, for the avoidance of doubt, a Bond in respect of which a Conversion Date has occurred shall be deemed to remain outstanding until the Conversion Right has been satisfied and discharged even if the holder is removed from the register of Bondholders during the conversion process), (f) those in respect of which Mandatory Conversion in accordance with the Conditions has occurred and the relevant Shares and/or any cash amounts have been duly delivered or paid to the Bondholders and (g) those in respect of which the Further Mandatory Conversion in accordance with the Conditions has occurred and the relevant Shares and/or any cash amounts have been duly delivered or paid to the Bondholders, and (h) the Bonds represented by any Global Certificate to the extent that it shall have been exchanged for another Global Certificate in respect of the Bonds or for the Certificates in definitive form pursuant to its provisions; and provided that for the purposes of (1) ascertaining the right to attend and vote at any meeting of the Bondholders, (2) the determination of how many Bonds are outstanding for the purposes of Clause 15, Conditions 10, 14 and 15 and Schedule 3, and (3) the exercise of any discretion, power or authority whether contained in this Trust Deed or any other document or provided by law, which the Trustee is required, expressly or impliedly, to exercise in or by reference

to the interests of the Bondholders, those Bonds which are beneficially held by or on behalf of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries and not cancelled shall (unless no longer so held) be deemed not to remain outstanding;"

**2.2** Clause 5.1 of the Subsisting Trust Deed shall be amended with the following words in underlined added:

"Availability of Shares: reserve, free from any other pre-emptive or other similar rights, out of its authorised but unissued ordinary share capital the full number of Shares liable to be issued on conversion of all the Bonds (including upon a Mandatory Conversion or the Further Mandatory Conversion) from time to time remaining outstanding and shall ensure that all Shares delivered on conversion of Bonds (including upon a Mandatory Conversion or the Further Mandatory Conversion) will be duly and validly issued as fully-paid and not subject to call for further funds;"

**2.3** Clause 5.9.1 of the Subsisting Trust Deed shall be amended with the following words in underlined added:

"Listing of Shares: use all reasonable endeavours to (a) maintain a listing for all the issued Shares on the HKSE, and (b) obtain and maintain a listing for all the Shares issued on the exercise of the Conversion Rights or upon a Mandatory Conversion or the Further Mandatory Conversion on the HKSE, and if the Issuer is unable to obtain or maintain such listing, having used such endeavours, the Issuer will use all reasonable endeavours to obtain and maintain a listing for the Shares on an Alternative Stock Exchange as the Issuer may from time to time determine (with prior written notification to the Trustee) and will forthwith give notice to the Bondholders in accordance with Condition 11 of the listing or delisting of the Shares (as a class) by any such stock exchange;"

**2.4** Clause 6.3 of the Subsisting Trust Deed shall be amended with the following words in underlined added:

"Notice of Adjustment: If, while any Conversion Right or Mandatory Conversion or Further Mandatory Conversion is or is capable of being or becoming exercisable, there shall be any adjustment to the Conversion Price or an announcement of the terms of any issue, sale or distribution pursuant to Condition 6(C)(4), Condition 6(C)(5), Condition 6(C)(6) and Condition 6(C)(7)) and the announcement of any proposed modification pursuant to Condition 6(C)(8), the Issuer shall (i) as soon as practicable notify (such notice to be signed by an Authorised Signatory) the Bondholders, the Trustee and the Principal Agent in writing of particulars of the event giving rise to the adjustment, the Conversion Price before and after the adjustment, the date on which the adjustment is likely to become effective, the effect of exercise of their Conversion Rights by Bondholders or the effect of any Mandatory Conversion or the effect on the Further Mandatory Conversion before then and such other relevant information as the Trustee may require, and (ii) promptly after the adjustment takes effect, give notice to the Bondholders stating that the Conversion Price has been adjusted and setting out the event giving rise to the adjustment, the Conversion Price in effect before the adjustment, the adjusted Conversion Price and the effective date of the adjustment. However, a notice pursuant to another sub-Clause of this Clause 6 correctly stating any information required to be given pursuant to this Clause 6.3 shall, as to such information, satisfy the requirements of this Clause 6.3."

**2.5** A new Clause 11.57 shall be inserted after Clause 11.56 of the Subsisting Trust Deed, as follows:

"11.57 Escrow Interest: The Trustee, the Agents and the Issuer shall not be responsible or liable to Bondholders for any loss arising from any failure by the escrow agent to deliver the interest calculation set out in Conditions 8(A)(i)(2) on a timely basis or at all. The Trustee and the Agents shall not be responsible or liable to verify any calculation or determination of the Escrow Interest and will not be responsible to Bondholders or any other person for any loss arising from any failure to do so."

2.6 Clause 11.19 of the Subsisting Trust Deed shall be deleted in its entirety and replaced by:

"The Shares: None of the Trustee nor the Agents shall have any duty or responsibility at any time in respect of the determination of whether the Mandatory Conversion Condition has been satisfied. None of the Trustee nor the Agents shall have any duty or responsibility for any aspect with respect to the delivery of Shares including the appointment of the Share Transfer Agent or Relevant Person, the validity of or the determination of the value (or the kind or amount) of the Shares (including determination of the VWAP) or the value of any Shares which may at any time be issued or delivered on the conversion of any Bonds. None of the Trustee nor the Agents shall be responsible for any failure of the Issuer, the Relevant Person or the Share Transfer Agent to make available or deliver any Shares, share certificates or any other securities or property or make any payment or distribution on the exercise of any Conversion Right or upon a Mandatory Conversion or the Further Mandatory Conversion."

- 2.7 the Form of Global Certificate contained in Schedule 1 Part A to the Subsisting Trust Deed shall be deleted in its entirety and replaced by Schedule 1 hereto, and references to "Global Certificate" representing the Bonds in the Subsisting Trust Deed shall refer to the Global Certificate substantially in the form set out in Schedule 1 to this Second Supplemental Trust Deed; and
- 2.8 the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds contained in Schedule 2 to the Subsisting Trust Deed shall be deleted in its entirety and replaced by Schedule 2 to this Second Supplemental Trust Deed.
- **2.9** Paragraph 3.9(v) of Schedule 3 to the Subsisting Trust Deed shall be amended with the following words in underlined added:

"modifying (except by a unilateral and unconditional reduction in the Conversion Price) or cancel (i) the Conversion Rights or (ii) the provisions relating to the Mandatory Conversion; or (iii) the provisions relating to the Further Mandatory Conversion or"

#### 3 Global Certificate

The Global Certificate issued on 19 January 2023 shall be cancelled and replaced by the Global Certificate in respect of the outstanding Bonds substantially in the form set out in Schedule 1 to this Second Supplemental Trust Deed duly executed and delivered by the Issuer in accordance with the Agency Agreement.

#### 4 Further Assurance

The Issuer shall, at its own cost, take such action and execute such documentation as the Trustee shall request in order to effect the amendments under the Subsisting Trust Deed and the Bonds in the manner contemplated by this Second Supplemental Trust Deed.

#### 5 Stamp Duties and Taxes

The Issuer will pay any stamp, issue, registration, documentary, transfer or other taxes, duties, assessments and/or government charges, including interest and penalties, payable in the PRC, Hong Kong, the Cayman Islands, Luxembourg, Belgium, the United Kingdom and any other jurisdiction in respect of the execution or delivery of this Second Supplemental Trust Deed. The Trustee shall not be liable to pay any such taxes, duties, assessments and/or government charges in any jurisdiction and shall not be concerned with, or obliged or required to enquire into, the sufficiency of any amount paid by the Issuer or any Bondholder for this purpose and shall not be liable for any losses as a result of any non-payment by the Issuer or any Bondholder. The Issuer will also indemnify the Trustee and the Bondholders, on an after tax basis, from and against all stamp, issue, registration, documentary, transfer or other taxes, duties, assessments and/or government charges paid by any of them in any jurisdiction in connection with any action taken by or on behalf of the Trustee or, as the case may be, the Bondholders to enforce the Issuer's obligations under this Second Supplemental Trust Deed. The parties hereto acknowledge that the foregoing indemnities shall survive the resignation or removal of the Trustee and/or the Bonds no longer being outstanding and/or the termination of this Second Supplemental Trust Deed.

#### 6 Counterparts

This Second Supplemental Trust Deed may be executed in any number of counterparts and this has the same effect as if the signatures on the counterparts were on a same copy of this Second Supplemental Trust Deed.

#### 7 Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999

A person who is not a party to this Second Supplemental Trust Deed has no rights under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 to enforce any term of this Second Supplemental Trust Deed except and to the extent (if any) that this Second Supplemental Trust Deed expressly provides for such Act to apply to any of its terms. The parties to this Second Supplemental Trust Deed shall have the right to amend, vary or rescind any provision of this Second Supplemental Trust Deed without the consent of any such third party.

#### 8 Governing Law and Jurisdiction

- **8.1** This Second Supplemental Trust Deed and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with it shall be governed by and construed in accordance with English law.
- 8.2 The courts of Hong Kong are to have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any disputes which may arise out of or in connection with this Second Supplemental Trust Deed and accordingly any legal action or proceedings arising out of or in connection with this Second Supplemental Trust Deed ("Proceedings") may be brought in such courts. The Issuer irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of such courts and waives any objections to Proceedings in such courts on the ground of venue or on the ground that the Proceedings have been brought in an inconvenient forum.
- 8.3 The Issuer irrevocably agrees to receive service of process in any Proceedings in Hong Kong at the Issuer's business address in Hong Kong, currently at 31/F, Tower Two, Times Square, 1 Matheson Street, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong. Such service shall be deemed completed on delivery to such address (whether or not it is forwarded to and received by the Issuer). If for any reason the Issuer no longer has an address in Hong Kong, the Issuer

irrevocably agrees to forthwith appoint a substitute process agent in Hong Kong and deliver to the Trustee a copy of the agent's acceptance of that appointment within 30 days of such cessation. Nothing shall affect the right to serve process in any other manner permitted by law.

8.4 The Issuer hereby waives any right to claim sovereign or other immunity from jurisdiction or execution and any similar defence, and irrevocably consents to the giving of any relief or the issue of any process, including, without limitation, the making, enforcement or execution against any property whatsoever (irrespective of its use or intended use) of any order or judgment made or given in connection with any Proceedings.

# SCHEDULE 1 Form of Global Certificate

ISIN: XS2089158609 Common Code: 208915860

# CHINA YUHUA EDUCATION CORPORATION LIMITED (incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

HK\$913,868,385.35 Convertible Bonds due 2025

#### **GLOBAL CERTIFICATE NO. 3**

This Global Certificate is issued in respect of the principal amount specified above of the Bonds (the "Bonds") of China YuHua Education Corporation Limited (the "Issuer"). This Global Certificate certifies that The Bank of New York Depository (Nominees) Limited (the "Registered Holder") as nominee of the Common Depository for Euroclear and Clearstream is registered as the holder of such principal amount of the Bonds at the date hereof.

The Bonds are constituted by, are subject to, and have the benefit of, the Trust Deed and the Conditions.

The Bonds in respect of which this Certificate is issued are convertible into fully-paid ordinary Shares of HK\$0.00001 each of the Issuer subject to and in accordance with the Conditions and the Trust Deed.

#### **Interpretation and Definitions**

References in this Global Certificate to the "Conditions" are to the Terms and Conditions applicable to the Bonds (which are in the form set out in Schedule 2 to the trust deed dated 27 December 2019 between the Issuer and The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch as trustee (as amended and supplemented on 19 January 2023 and [•] 2025 and as further amended and/or supplemented from time to time, the "Trust Deed"), as such form is supplemented and/or modified and/or superseded by the provisions of this Global Certificate, which in the event of any conflict shall prevail). Other capitalised terms used in this Global Certificate shall have the meanings given to them in the Conditions or the Trust Deed.

#### **Promise to Pay**

The Issuer, for value received, promises to pay to the holder of the Bonds represented by this Global Certificate (subject to surrender of this Global Certificate if no further payment falls to be made in respect of such Bonds) on the Maturity Date (or on such earlier date as the amount payable upon redemption under the Conditions may become repayable in accordance with the Conditions) the amount payable upon redemption under the Conditions in respect of the Bonds represented by this Global Certificate and to pay interest in respect of such Bonds from 27 December 2019 (the "Issue Date") in arrear at the rates, on the dates for payment, and in accordance with the method of calculation provided for in the Conditions save that the calculation is made in respect of the total aggregate amount of the Bonds represented by this Global Certificate together with such other sums and additional amounts (if any) as may be payable under the Conditions, in accordance with the Conditions.

So long as the Global Certificate is held on behalf of Euroclear, Clearstream or any other clearing system, each payment will be made to the person shown as the holder in the Register at the close

of business of the relevant clearing system on the Clearing System Business Day before the due date for such payments, where "Clearing System Business Day" means a weekday (Monday to Friday, inclusive) except 25 December and 1 January.

For the purposes of this Global Certificate, (a) the holder of the Bonds represented by this Global Certificate is bound by all the provisions of the Trust Deed and those provisions applicable to it of the Agency Agreement, (b) the Issuer certifies that the Registered Holder is, at the date hereof, entered in the Register as the holder of the Bonds represented by this Global Certificate, (c) this Global Certificate is evidence of entitlement only, (d) title to the Bonds represented by this Global Certificate passes only on due registration on the Register, and (e) only the holder of the Bonds represented by this Global Certificate is entitled to payments in respect of the Bonds represented by this Global Certificate.

#### **Exchange of Bonds Represented by Global Certificates**

Owners of interests in the Bonds in respect of which this Global Certificate is issued will be entitled to have title to the Bonds registered in their names and to receive individual definitive Certificates if either Euroclear or Clearstream or any other clearing system selected by the Issuer and approved in writing by the Trustee, the Principal Agent and the Registrar through which the Bonds are held (an "Alternative Clearing System") is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holidays, statutory or otherwise) or announces an intention permanently to cease business or does in fact do so. In such circumstances, the Issuer will at its own expense cause sufficient individual definitive Certificates to be executed and delivered to the Registrar for completion, authentication and despatch to the relevant holders of the Bonds. A person with an interest in the Bonds in respect of which this Global Certificate is issued must provide the Registrar not less than 30 days' notice at its specified office of such holder's intention to effect such exchange and a written order containing instructions and such other information as the Issuer and the Registrar may require to complete, execute and deliver such individual definitive Certificates.

#### **Notices**

So long as the Bonds are represented by the Global Certificate and the Global Certificate is held on behalf of Euroclear or Clearstream or any Alternative Clearing System, notices to holders of the Bonds shall be given by delivery of the relevant notice to Euroclear or Clearstream or such Alternative Clearing System, for communication by it to accountholders entitled to an interest in the Bonds in substitution for notification as required by the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds.

#### Meetings

For the purposes of any meeting of Bondholders, the holder of the Bonds represented by this Global Certificate shall be treated as two persons for the purposes of any quorum requirements of a meeting of Bondholders and as being entitled to one vote in respect of each HK\$2,000,000 in principal amount of Bonds for which this Global Certificate is issued.

#### Redemption at the Option of the Bondholders

The Bondholder's redemption option in Conditions 8(D) and 8(E) may be exercised by the holder of this Global Certificate giving notice to any Paying Agent of the principal amount of Bonds in respect of which the option is exercised within the time limits specified in that Condition.

#### Redemption at the Option of the Issuer

The option of the Issuer provided for in Conditions 8(B) and 8(C) shall be exercised by the Issuer giving notice to the Bondholders within the time limits set out in and containing the information required by the relevant Condition.

#### **Bondholders' Tax Option**

The option of the Bondholders not to have the Bonds redeemed as provided in Condition 8(B) shall be exercised by the presentation to any Paying Agent of a duly completed Bondholder's election notice within the time limits set out in and containing the information required by Condition 8(B).

#### **Mandatory Redemption**

The Issuer shall redeem the Bonds as required by and in accordance with Condition 8(A) on the Maturity Date.

#### **Transfers**

Transfers of beneficial interests in the Bonds represented by this Global Certificate will be effected through the records of Euroclear and Clearstream (or any Alternative Clearing System) and their respective participants in accordance with the rules and procedures of Euroclear and Clearstream (or any Alternative Clearing System) and their respective direct and indirect participants.

#### Cancellation

Cancellation of any Bond by the Issuer following its redemption, conversion or purchase by the Issuer and its Subsidiaries will be effected by a reduction in the principal amount of the Bonds in the register of Bondholders and this Global Certificate on its presentation to or to the order of the Registrar for annotation (for information only) in Schedule A.

#### Conversion

Subject to the requirements of Euroclear and Clearstream (or any Alternative Clearing System), the Conversion Right attaching to a Bond in respect of which this Global Certificate is issued may be exercised at any time during the Conversion Period by the presentation to or to the order of the Principal Agent of one or more Conversion Notices duly completed by or on behalf of a holder of a book-entry interest in such Bonds. Deposit of this Global Certificate with the Principal Agent together with the relevant Conversion Notice(s) shall not be required. The exercise of the Conversion Right shall be notified by the Principal Agent to the Registrar and the holder of this Global Certificate.

#### **Mandatory Conversion**

Subject to the requirements of Euroclear and Clearstream (or any Alternative Clearing System), where a Mandatory Conversion or the Further Mandatory Conversion occurs in respect of Bonds represented by this Global Certificate, one or more Conversion Notices duly completed may be presented to or to the order of the Principal Agent by or on behalf of a holder of a book-entry interest in such Bonds. Deposit of this Global Certificate with the Principal Agent together with the relevant Conversion Notice(s) shall not be required. The Mandatory Conversion or the Further Mandatory Conversion shall be notified by the Principal Agent to the Registrar and the holder of this Global Certificate.

#### Trustee's Powers

In considering the interests of Bondholders while this Global Certificate is registered in the name of a nominee for a clearing system, the Trustee may, to the extent it considers it appropriate to do so in the circumstances, but without being obliged to do so, (a) have regard to any information as may have been made available to it by or on behalf of the relevant clearing system or its operator as to the identity of its accountholders (either individually or by way of category) with entitlements in respect of the Bonds and (b) consider such interests on the basis that such accountholders were the holders of the Bonds in respect of which this Global Certificate is issued.

This Global Certificate shall not become valid for any purpose until authenticated by or on behalf of the Registrar.

A person who is not a party to this Global Certificate has no right under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 to enforce any term of this Global Certificate except and to the extent (if any) that this Global Certificate expressly provides for such Act to apply to any of its terms.

This Global Certificate and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with it shall be governed by and construed in accordance with English law.

In witness whereof the Issuer has caused this Global Certificate to be signed on its behalf.					
Dated as of					
CHINA YUHUA EDUCATION CORPORATION LIMITED					
By:					
Certificate of Authentication					
This Global Certificate is authenticated by or on behalf of the Registrar without recourse, warranty or liability.					
THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON SA/NV, LUXEMBOURG BRANCH					
as Registrar					
By:					
Authorised Signatory For the purposes of authentication only.					

#### Form of Transfer

For value received the undersigned transfers to					
(PLEASE PRINT OR TYPEWRITE NAME AND ADDRESS OF TRANSFEREE)					
HK\$[●] principal amount of the Bonds represented by this Global Certificate, and all rights under hem.					
Dated					
Signed Certifying Signature					
<del></del>					

#### Notes:

- The signature of the person effecting a transfer shall conform to a list of duly authorised specimen signatures supplied by the holder of the Bonds represented by this Global Certificate or (if such signature corresponds with the name as it appears on the face of this Global Certificate) be certified by a notary public or a recognised bank or be supported by such other evidence as a Transfer Agent or the Registrar may require.
- 2 A representative of the Bondholder should state the capacity in which he signs e.g. executor.

#### **PRINCIPAL AGENT**

#### THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON, LONDON BRANCH

160 Queen Victoria Street London EC4V 4LA United Kingdom

#### **REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER AGENT**

#### THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON SA/NV, LUXEMBOURG BRANCH

Vertigo Building – Polaris 2-4, rue Eugène Ruppert L-2453 Luxembourg

#### Schedule A

# Schedule of Increases/Reductions in Principal Amount of Bonds in respect of which this Global Certificate is Issued

The following increases/reductions in the principal amount of Bonds in respect of which this Global Certificate is issued have been made as a result of: (i) exercise of the Conversion Rights attaching to Bonds or any Mandatory Conversion, (ii) redemption of Bonds, (iii) purchase and cancellation of Bonds, (iv) partial exchange for Definitive Certificates, or (v) further issues:

Date of Conversion / Redemption / Purchase and Cancellation of Bonds / Issue of definitive Certificate (stating which)	Amount of increase/decrease in principal amount of this Global Certificate	Principal amount of this Global Certificate following such increase/decrease	Notation made by o on behalf of the Registrar
•••	•••	•••	•••

### Schedule B

### **Exercise of Bondholders' Option**

The following exercises of the option of the Bondholders provided for in Condition 8(D) and Condition 8(E) have been made in respect of the stated principal amount of this Global Certificate:

	Principal amount of this	Date on which	
	Global Certificate in	redemption of such	Notation made by or
	respect of which exercise	principal amount is	on behalf of the
Date of Exercise	is made	due	Principal Agent

# SCHEDULE 2 Terms and Conditions of the Bonds

## TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE BONDS

The following, subject to completion and amendment, and save for the paragraphs in italics, is the text of the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds.

The issue of the HK\$2,088,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 0.90 per cent. Convertible Bonds due 2025 (the "Bonds", which term shall include, unless the context requires otherwise, any further bonds issued in accordance with Condition 17 and consolidated and forming a single series therewith) of China YuHua Education Corporation Limited (the "Issuer") and the right of conversion into Shares (as defined in Condition 6(A)(iv)) was authorised by the board of directors of the Issuer on 3 December 2019. The Bonds are constituted by the trust deed dated 27 December 2019 (the "Issue Date") (as supplemented on 19 January 2023 and [●] 2025 and as further amended and/or supplemented from time to time, the "Trust Deed") between the Issuer and The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch (the "Trustee", which expression shall include all persons for the time being the trustee or trustees under the Trust Deed) as trustee for the holders (as defined below) of the Bonds. These terms and conditions (the "Conditions") include summaries of, and are subject to, the detailed provisions of the Trust Deed, which includes the form of the Bonds. The Bondholders (as defined below) are entitled to the benefit of, and are bound by, and are deemed to have notice of, all of the provisions of the Trust Deed, and are deemed to have notice of those provisions applicable to them of the paying, conversion and transfer agency agreement dated 27 December 2019 (as supplemented on 19 January 2023 and [●] 2025 and as further amended and/or supplemented from time to time, the "Agency Agreement") relating to the Bonds between the Issuer, the Trustee, The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch as principal paying agent and principal conversion agent (collectively in those capacities, the "Principal Agent"), The Bank of New York Mellon SA/NV, Luxembourg Branch as registrar (the "Registrar") and as transfer agent (the "Transfer Agent") and the other paying agents, conversion agents and transfer agents appointed under it (each a "Paying Agent", a "Conversion Agent", a "Transfer Agent" and together with the Registrar and the Principal Agent, the "Agents") relating to the Bonds. References to the "Paying Agents" and the "Conversion Agents" each include the Principal Agent. References to the "Principal Agent", the "Registrar", the "Transfer Agent" and the "Agents" below are references to the principal agent, the registrar and the agents for the time being for the Bonds.

As at [●] 2025 (the "Further Implementation Date"), the aggregate principal amount of Bonds outstanding is HK\$913,868,385.35.

Copies of the Trust Deed and of the Agency Agreement are available for inspection at all reasonable times during normal business hours (being between 9:00 a.m. and 3:00 p.m. on a business day) at the principal office for the time being of the Trustee (being at the Issue Date at 160 Victoria Street, London EC4V 4LA, United Kingdom) and at the specified office for the time being of the Principal Agent, following prior written request and proof of holding to the satisfaction of the Trustee or, as the case may be, the Principal Agent.

Unless otherwise defined, terms used in these Conditions have the meanings specified in the Trust Deed. In these Conditions, "**Bondholder**" and (in relation to a Bond) "**holder**" mean the person in whose name a Bond is registered.

## 1 Form, Denomination and Title

# (A) Form and Denomination

The Bonds are in registered form in the denomination of HK\$2,000,000 and integral multiples of HK\$1,000,000 in excess thereof (each, an "Authorised Denomination"). A bond certificate (each a "Certificate") will be issued to each Bondholder in respect of its registered holding of Bonds. Each Certificate will be numbered serially with an identifying number which will be recorded on the relevant Certificate and in the register of Bondholders (the "Register") which the Issuer will procure to be kept by the Registrar.

Upon issue, the Bonds will be represented by a global certificate (the "Global Certificate") registered in the name of a nominee of, and deposited with, a common depositary for Euroclear Bank SA/NV ("Euroclear") and Clearstream Banking S.A. ("Clearstream"). The Conditions are modified by certain provisions contained in the Global Certificate. See "Description of the Global Certificate".

Except in the limited circumstances described in the Global Certificate, owners of interests in Bonds represented by the Global Certificate will not be entitled to receive definitive Certificates in respect of their individual holdings of Bonds. The Bonds are not issuable in bearer form.

#### (B) Title

Title to the Bonds will pass only by transfer and registration in the Register as described in Condition 3. The holder of any Bond will (except as otherwise required by law or as ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction) be treated as its absolute owner for all purposes (whether or not it is overdue and regardless of any notice of ownership, trust or any interest in it or any writing (other than the endorsed form of transfer) on, or the theft or loss of, the Certificate issued in respect of it) and no person will be liable for so treating the holder.

#### 2 Status

The Bonds constitute direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and (subject to Condition 4) unsecured obligations of the Issuer and shall at all times rank *pari passu* and without any preference or priority among themselves. The payment obligations of the Issuer under the Bonds shall, save for such exceptions as may be provided by mandatory provisions of applicable legislation and subject to Condition 4, at all times rank at least equally with all of its other present and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations.

# 3 Transfers of Bonds; Issue of Certificates

## (A) Register

The Issuer will cause the Register to be kept at the specified office of the Registrar outside Hong Kong and the United Kingdom and in accordance with the terms of the Agency Agreement on which shall be entered the names and addresses of the holders of the Bonds and the particulars of the Bonds held by them and of all transfers, redemptions and conversions of the Bonds. Each Bondholder shall be entitled to receive only one Certificate in respect of its entire holding of Bonds.

## (B) Transfer

Subject to Condition 3(E) and the terms of the Agency Agreement, a Bond may be transferred by delivery of the Certificate issued in respect of that Bond, with the form of transfer on the back duly completed and signed by the holder or his attorney duly authorised in writing, to the specified office of the Registrar or any of the Transfer Agents and with any other evidence as the Registrar or such Transfer Agent may require to prove the title of the transferor and the authority of the individuals who have executed such form of transfer. No transfer of a Bond will be valid unless and until entered on the Register.

Transfers of interests in the Bonds evidenced by the Global Certificate will be effected in accordance with the rules of the relevant clearing systems.

## (C) Delivery of New Certificates

Each new Certificate to be issued upon a transfer of Bonds will, within seven business days of receipt by the Registrar or, as the case may be, any Transfer Agent of the original Certificate and the form of

transfer duly completed and signed and provision of any other evidence required by the Registrar or the relevant Transfer Agent as contemplated in Condition 3(B), be made available for collection at the specified office of the Registrar or such Transfer Agent or, if so requested in the form of transfer, be mailed by uninsured mail at the risk of the holder entitled to the Bonds (but free of charge to the holder and at the Issuer's expense) to the address specified in the form of transfer.

Except in the limited circumstances described in the Global Certificate, owners of interests in the Bonds will not be entitled to receive delivery of definitive Certificates.

Where only some of the Bonds (being that of one or more Bonds) in respect of which a Certificate is issued is to be transferred, converted, redeemed or repurchased, a new Certificate in respect of the Bonds not so transferred, converted, redeemed or repurchased will, within seven business days of delivery of the original Certificate and provision of any other evidence required by the Registrar or the relevant Transfer Agent as contemplated in Condition 3(B) to the Registrar or, as the case may be, any Transfer Agent, be made available for collection at the specified office of the Registrar or such Transfer Agent or, if so requested in the form of transfer, be mailed by uninsured mail at the risk of the holder of the Bonds not so transferred, converted, redeemed or repurchased (but free of charge to the holder and at the Issuer's expense) to the address of such holder appearing on the Register.

For the purposes of this Condition 3, Condition 4, Condition 6 and Condition 10, "business day" means a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which commercial banks are open for business in the city in which the specified office of the Registrar or the Transfer Agent, with whom a Certificate is deposited in connection with a transfer or conversion is located.

## (D) Formalities Free of Charge

Registration of a transfer of Bonds and issuance of new Certificates will be effected without charge by or on behalf of the Issuer or any Agent subject to (a) the person making such application for transfer paying or procuring the payment (or the giving of such indemnity and/or security and/or prefunding as the Issuer or any Agent may require) of any taxes, duties and other governmental charges in connection therewith, (b) the Registrar or the relevant Transfer Agent (as the case may be) being satisfied in its absolute discretion with the documents of title and/or identity of the person making the application and (c) the detailed regulations concerning transfer and registration of the Bonds, the initial form of which is set out in the Agency Agreement (as such regulations may be changed by the Registrar, with the prior written approval of the Trustee, and/or by the Issuer, with the prior written consent of the Trustee and the Registrar).

#### (E) Restricted Transfer Periods

No Bondholder may require the transfer of a Bond to be registered (a) during the period of seven days ending on (and including) the dates for payment of any principal pursuant to the Conditions (including any date of redemption pursuant to Conditions 8(B) or 8(C)); (b) after a Conversion Notice (as defined in Condition 6(B)(i)) has been delivered with respect to a Bond; or (c) after a Relevant Event Put Exercise Notice (as defined in Condition 8(D)) or Optional Put Exercise Notice (as defined in Condition 8(E)) has been deposited in respect of such Bond. Each such period is a "**Restricted Transfer Period**".

# 4 Negative Pledge and Covenants

## (A) Negative Pledge

So long as any Bond remains outstanding (as defined in the Trust Deed), the Issuer will not, and will ensure that none of its Subsidiaries will, create, or have outstanding, any mortgage, charge, lien, pledge or other security interest upon the whole or any part of its present or future undertaking, assets or revenues (including any uncalled capital) to secure any Relevant Indebtedness, or any guarantee or indemnity in respect of any Relevant Indebtedness, without at the same time or prior thereto according to the Bonds the same security as is created or subsisting to secure any such Relevant Indebtedness, guarantee or indemnity equally and rateably or such other security as shall be approved by an Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the Trust Deed) of the Bondholders.

### (B) Notification to NDRC

The Issuer undertakes that it will, within the prescribed time period, file or cause to be filed with the National Development and Reform Commission of the PRC (the "NDRC") the requisite information and documents in accordance with the Circular on Promoting the Reform of the Administrative System on the Issuance by Enterprises of Foreign Debt Filings and Registrations(國家發展改革委關於推進企業發行外債備案登記制管理改革的通知 (發改外資〔2015〕2044 號))(the "NDRC Circular") issued by the NDRC and effective as of 14 September 2015 and any implementing rules and/or regulations as issued by the NDRC from time to time (the "NDRC Post-issue Filing") and (ii) comply with all applicable PRC laws, rules and regulations in connection with the Bonds (including, but not limited to, any rules issued by the NDRC from time to time).

# (C) Notification of Completion of NDRC Post-issue Filing

The Issuer shall within 15 Registration Business Days after submission of the NDRC Post-issue Filing, provide the Trustee with (i) a certificate (substantially in the form scheduled to the Trust Deed) in English signed by an Authorised Signatory of the Issuer confirming (A) the completion of the NDRC Post-issue Filing and (B) no Relevant Event, Event of Default or Potential Event of Default (as defined in the Trust Deed) has occurred; and (ii) copies of the relevant documents evidencing the NDRC Post-issue Filing (if any), each certified in English by an Authorised Signatory of the Issuer as a true and complete copy of the original (the items specified in (i) and (ii) together, the "Registration Documents"). In addition, the Issuer shall, within five Registration Business Days after the documents comprising the Registration Documents are delivered to the Trustee, give notice to the Bondholders (in accordance with Condition 11) confirming the completion of the NDRC Post-issue Filing.

The Trustee shall have no obligation to monitor or ensure that the NDRC Post-issue Filing is made as required by Condition 4(C) or to assist with the NDRC Post-issue Filing or to verify the accuracy, validity and/or genuineness of any Registration Documents or any translation or certification thereof or to give notice to the Bondholders confirming the completion of the NDRC Post-issue Filing, and shall not be liable to Bondholders or any other person for any of the foregoing and for not doing so.

## In these Conditions:

"PRC" means the People's Republic of China and, for the purposes of these Conditions, except where the context requires, does not include Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China, Macau Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China and Taiwan;

"Registration Business Day" means a day, other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday, on which commercial banks are generally open for business in Beijing, PRC;

"Relevant Indebtedness" is to any future or present indebtedness incurred outside the PRC which is in the form of or represented by debentures, loan stock, bonds, notes, bearer participation certificates, depository receipts, certificates of deposit or other similar securities which are, or are issued with the intention on the part of issuer thereof that they should be, or are capable of being, quoted, listed, ordinarily dealt in or traded on any stock exchange or over the counter or any other securities market (whether or not initially distributed by way of private placement), which for the avoidance of doubt does not include indebtedness under any bilateral, syndicated or club loan or loan facility; and

a "Subsidiary" of any person means (a) any company or other business entity of which that person owns or controls (either directly or through one or more other Subsidiaries) more than 50 per cent. of the issued share capital or other ownership interest having ordinary voting power to elect directors, managers or trustees of such company or other business entity, or (b) any company or other business entity which at any time has its accounts consolidated with those of that person or which, under the law, regulations or generally accepted accounting principles of the jurisdiction of incorporation of such person from time to time, should have its accounts consolidated with those of that person.

## 5 Interest

The Bonds bear interest on their outstanding principal amount from and including the Issue Date at the rate of 0.90 per cent. per annum, payable semi-annually in arrear on 27 June and 27 December in each year (each an "Interest Payment Date"), commencing on 27 June 2020. If any Interest Payment Date would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Payment Business Day it shall be postponed to the next day which is a Payment Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month in which event it shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Payment Business Day.

Each Bond will cease to bear interest (a) (subject to Condition 6(B)(iv)) where the Conversion Right attached to it shall have been exercised by a Bondholder, from and including the Interest Payment Date immediately preceding the relevant Conversion Date (as defined in Condition 6(B)(i)), or if none, the Issue Date (subject in any case as provided in Condition 6(B)(iv)), or (b) upon a Mandatory Conversion, from and including the Conversion Date (as defined in Condition 6(B)(i)), or (c) with respect to any Bond subject to redemption, conversion or repayment and cancellation pursuant to Condition 8(A), from and including 27 December 2024 or (d) where such Bond is redeemed or repaid pursuant to Condition 8 (other than such Bonds subject to redemption, conversion or repayment and cancellation pursuant to Condition 8(A)) or Condition 10, from the due date for redemption or repayment thereof unless, upon due presentation thereof, payment of principal is improperly withheld or refused. In such event, it will continue to bear interest at three per cent. per annum above the rate aforesaid (both before and after judgment) until whichever is the earlier of (x) the day on which all sums due in respect of such Bond up to that day are received by or on behalf of the relevant holder, and (y) the day seven days after the Trustee or the Principal Agent has notified Bondholders of receipt of all sums due in respect of all the Bonds up to that seventh day (except to the extent that there is failure in the subsequent payment to the relevant holders under these Conditions).

Interest in respect of any Bond shall be calculated per HK\$1,000,000 in principal amount of the Bonds (the "Calculation Amount"). The amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount shall be equal to the product of the rate of interest specified above, the Calculation Amount and the actual number of days in the Interest Period (or such other period) divided by 365, rounding the resulting figure to the nearest cent (half a cent being rounded upwards).

In these Conditions, the period beginning on and including the Issue Date and ending on but excluding the first Interest Payment Date and each successive period beginning on and including an Interest Payment Date and ending on but excluding the next succeeding Interest Payment Date is called an "Interest Period".

## 6 Conversion

### (A) Conversion Right

(i) Conversion Period: Subject as provided in these Conditions, each Bond shall entitle the holder to convert such Bond into Shares credited as fully paid (as defined in Condition 6(A)(iv)) at any time during the Conversion Period referred to below (the "Conversion Right").

Subject to and upon compliance with the Conditions, the Conversion Right in respect of a Bond may be exercised, at the option of the holder thereof, at any time (a) on or after the date which is 41 days after the Issue Date (both dates inclusive) to the close of business (at the place where the Certificate evidencing such Bond is deposited for conversion) on the date falling seven days prior to the Maturity Date (as defined in Condition 8) (both days inclusive) (but, except as provided in Condition 6(A)(iii), in no event thereafter), (b) if such Bond shall have been called for redemption by the Issuer before the Maturity Date, then up to and including the close of business (at the place aforesaid) on a date no later than seven days (in the place aforesaid) prior to the date fixed for redemption thereof or (c) if notice requiring redemption has been given by the holder of such Bond pursuant to Condition 8(D) or 8(E), up to the close of business (at the place aforesaid) on the business day (in the place aforesaid) prior to the giving of such notice (the "Conversion Period").

A Conversion Right may not be exercised (a) in respect of a Bond where the holder shall have exercised its right, by delivering or depositing the relevant notice, to require the Issuer to redeem or repurchase such Bond pursuant to Condition 8(D) or 8(E) or (b) except as provided in Condition 6(A)(iii) following the giving of notice by the Trustee pursuant to Condition 10.

The price at which Shares will be issued upon exercise of a Conversion Right (the "Conversion Price") shall as of the Further Implementation Date be HK\$0.733 per Share, but will be subject to adjustment in the circumstances described in Condition 6(C).

The number of Shares to be issued on exercise of a Conversion Right or upon a Mandatory Conversion or upon the Further Mandatory Conversion shall be determined by dividing the principal amount of the Bonds to be converted by the Conversion Price in effect on the relevant Conversion Date (as defined in Condition 6(B)(i)). A Conversion Right may only be exercised in respect of one or more Bonds. If more than one Bond held by the same holder is converted at any one time by the same holder, the number of Shares to be issued upon such conversion will be calculated on the basis of the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds to be converted.

(ii) Fractions of Shares: Fractions of Shares will not be issued on exercise of Conversion Rights or a Mandatory Conversion or the Further Mandatory Conversion and no cash payment or other adjustment will be made in lieu thereof. However, if the Conversion Right in respect of more than one Bond is exercised at any one time or upon a Mandatory Conversion or the Further Mandatory Conversion in respect of more than one Bond such that Shares to be issued on conversion are to be registered in the same name, the number of such Shares to be issued in respect thereof shall be calculated on the basis of the aggregate principal amount of such Bonds being so converted and rounded down to the nearest whole number of Shares. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event of a consolidation or re-classification of Shares by operation of law or otherwise occurring after 3 December 2019 which reduces the number of Shares outstanding, the Issuer will upon conversion of Bonds pay in cash in Hong Kong dollars a sum equal to such portion of the principal amount of the Bond or Bonds evidenced by the Certificate deposited in connection with the exercise of Conversion Rights or upon a Mandatory Conversion or the

Further Mandatory Conversion, aggregated as provided in Condition 6(A)(i), as corresponds to any fraction of a Share not issued as a result of such consolidation or re-classification aforesaid, provided that such sum exceeds HK\$100. Any such sum shall be paid not later than five Stock Exchange Business Days (as defined in Condition 6(B)(i)) after the relevant Conversion Date by transfer to a Hong Kong dollar account maintained by the payee with, a bank in Hong Kong, in accordance with instructions given by the relevant Bondholder in the Conversion Notice.

- Revival and/or Survival after Default: Notwithstanding the provisions of Condition 6(A)(i), if (iii) (a) the Issuer shall default in making payment in full in respect of any Bond which shall have been called or put for redemption on the date fixed for redemption thereof; (b) any Bond has become due and payable prior to the Maturity Date by reason of the occurrence of any of the events under Condition 10; or (c) any Bond is not redeemed on the Maturity Date in accordance with Condition 8(A), the Conversion Right attaching to such Bond will revive and/or will continue to be exercisable up to, and including, the close of business (at the place where the Certificate evidencing such Bond is deposited for conversion) on the date upon which the full amount of the moneys payable in respect of such Bond has been duly received by the Principal Agent or the Trustee and notice of such receipt has been duly given to the Bondholders in accordance with Condition 11 and notwithstanding the provisions of Condition 6(A)(i), any Bond in respect of which the Certificate and the Conversion Notice (as defined in Condition 6(B)(i)) are deposited for conversion prior to such date shall be converted on the relevant Conversion Date (as defined in Condition 6(B)(i)) notwithstanding that the full amount of the moneys payable in respect of such Bond shall have been received by the Principal Agent or the Trustee before such Conversion Date or that the Conversion Period may have expired before such Conversion Date.
- (iv) *Meaning of "Shares"*: As used in these Conditions, the expression "**Shares**" means ordinary shares of par value HK\$0.00001 each of the Issuer or shares of any class or classes resulting from any subdivision, consolidation or re-classification of those shares, which as between themselves have no preference in respect of dividends or of amounts payable in the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation or dissolution of the Issuer.

# (B) Conversion Procedure

(i) Conversion Notice: Conversion Rights may be exercised by a Bondholder during the Conversion Period by delivering the relevant Certificate to the specified office of any Conversion Agent during normal business hours (being between 9:00 a.m. and 3:00 p.m. on a business day) at the place where the Certificate evidencing such Bond is deposited for conversion accompanied by a duly completed and signed notice of conversion (a "Conversion Notice") in the form (for the time being current) obtainable from any Conversion Agent, together with (a) the relevant Certificate; and (b) any amounts required to be paid by the Bondholder under Condition 6(B)(ii).

If such delivery is made after 3:00 p.m. on any business day or on a day which is not a business day in the place of the specified office of the relevant Conversion Agent, such delivery shall be deemed for all purposes of these Conditions to have been made on the next following such business day.

Any determination as to whether any Conversion Notice has been duly completed and properly delivered shall be made by the relevant Conversion Agent and shall, save in the case of manifest error, be conclusive and binding on the Issuer, the Trustee, the Conversion Agents and the relevant Bondholder.

Conversion Rights may only be exercised in respect of an Authorised Denomination. A Conversion Notice, once delivered, shall be irrevocable and may not be withdrawn unless the Issuer consents in writing to such withdrawal.

The "Conversion Date" in respect of a Bond (a) in the case of an exercise of Conversion Right by the Bondholders, must fall at a time when the Conversion Right attaching to that Bond is expressed in these Conditions to be exercisable (subject to the provisions of Condition 6(A)(iv)) and will be deemed to be the Stock Exchange Business Day (as defined in this Condition 6(B)(i)) immediately following the later of the date of the surrender of the Certificate in respect of such Bond and delivery of such Conversion Notice (if they are not surrendered and delivered on the same day) and, if applicable, the date of making any payment or giving any indemnity under these Conditions in connection with the exercise of such Conversion Right; (b) in the case of a Mandatory Conversion pursuant to Condition 6(F), means the Stock Exchange Business Day immediately after the expiry of the Notice Period defined in Condition 6(F). "Stock Exchange Business Day" means any day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which the Relevant Stock Exchange (as defined in Condition 6(H)) is open for trading of securities; and (c) in the case of the Further Mandatory Conversion pursuant to Condition 8(A), the first day on which the Shares have resumed trading following the suspension of trading of the Shares on 2 December 2024 (the "Resumption of Trading Date").

(ii) Stamp Duty etc.: A Bondholder exercising Conversion Rights (except in relation to a Mandatory Conversion or the Further Mandatory Conversion) must pay directly to the relevant authorities any taxes and/or capital, stamp, issue and registration and transfer taxes and duties ("Duties") arising on such exercise (other than any Duties payable in the Cayman Islands and, if relevant, in the place of the Alternative Stock Exchange, by the Issuer in respect of the allotment and issue of Shares and listing of the Shares on the Relevant Stock Exchange on conversion, being the "Issuer Duties") (the "Taxes"). The Issuer will pay all other expenses arising on the issue of Shares on conversion of Bonds and all charges of the Agents and any appointed share transfer agent for the Shares (the "Share Transfer Agent"). The Bondholder (and, if different, the person to whom the Shares are to be issued) must declare in the relevant Conversion Notice that any amounts payable to the relevant tax authorities in settlement of Taxes payable pursuant to this Condition 6(B)(ii) have been, or (where permitted by law) will be, paid.

If the Issuer shall fail to pay any Issuer Duties, the relevant holder shall be entitled to tender and pay the same and the Issuer as a separate and independent stipulation, covenants to reimburse and indemnify each Bondholder in respect of any payment thereof and any penalties payable in respect thereof.

Such Bondholder must also pay all, if any, taxes imposed on it and arising by reference to any disposal or deemed disposal of a Bond or interest therein in connection with the exercise of Conversion Rights by it.

Neither the Trustee nor any of the Agents shall be responsible for paying any Duties, Taxes, expenses or other amounts referred to in this Condition 6(B)(ii) or for determining whether such Duties are payable or the amount thereof and shall not be responsible or liable for any failure by the Issuer or any Bondholder to pay such Duties, Taxes, expenses or other amounts.

(iii) Registration: Upon exercise by a Bondholder of its Conversion Right and compliance with Conditions 6(B)(i) and 6(B)(ii) or upon a Mandatory Conversion or the Further Mandatory Conversion, the Issuer will, as soon as practicable, and in any event not later than ten Stock Exchange Business Days after the Conversion Date, register the person or persons designated

for the purpose in the Conversion Notice as holder(s) of the relevant number of Shares in the Issuer's share register and will, if the Bondholder has also requested in the Conversion Notice and to the extent permitted under applicable law and the rules and procedures of the Central Clearing and Settlement System of Hong Kong ("CCASS") effective from time to time, take all necessary action to procure that Shares are delivered through CCASS for so long as the Shares are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange; or will make such certificate or certificates available for collection at the office of the Issuer's share registrar in Hong Kong (currently Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited) notified to Bondholders in accordance with Condition 11 or, if so requested in the relevant Conversion Notice, will cause its share registrar to mail (at the risk, and, if sent at the request of such person otherwise than by ordinary mail, at the expense, of the person to whom such certificate or certificates are sent) such certificate or certificates to the person and at the place specified in the Conversion Notice, together (in either case) with any other securities, property or cash required to be delivered upon conversion of the Bonds and such assignments and other documents (if any) as may be required by law to effect the transfer thereof, in which case a single share certificate will be issued in respect of all Shares issued on conversion of Bonds subject to the same Conversion Notice and which are to be registered in the same name.

The delivery of the Shares to the converting Bondholder (or such person or persons designated in the relevant Conversion Notice) in the manner contemplated above in this Condition 6(B)(iii) will be deemed to satisfy the Issuer's obligation to pay the principal and premium (if any) on such converted Bonds.

The person or persons specified for that purpose in the Conversion Notice will become the holder of record of the number of Shares issuable upon conversion with effect from the date he is or they are registered as such in the Issuer's register of members (the "**Registration Date**").

The Shares issued upon exercise of Conversion Rights or upon a Mandatory Conversion or the Further Mandatory Conversion will be fully paid and will in all respects rank *pari passu* with the fully paid Shares in issue on the relevant Registration Date except for any right excluded by mandatory provisions of applicable law and except that such Shares will not rank for (or, as the case may be, the relevant holder shall not be entitled to receive) any rights, distributions or payments the record or other due date for the establishment of entitlement for which falls prior to the relevant Registration Date.

(iv) Retroactive Adjustments: If the Conversion Date in relation to the conversion of any Bond shall be on or after the record date for any issue, distribution, grant, offer or other event as gives rise to the adjustment of the Conversion Price pursuant to Condition 6(C), but before the relevant adjustment becomes effective (the "Relevant Effective Date") under the relevant Condition (a "Retroactive Adjustment"), upon the relevant adjustment becoming effective the Issuer shall procure the issue to the converting Bondholder (or in accordance with the instructions contained in the Conversion Notice (subject to applicable exchange control or other laws or other regulations)), such additional number of Shares ("Additional Shares") as is, together with Shares to be issued on conversion of the Bond(s), equal to the number of Shares which would have been required to be issued on conversion of such Bond if the relevant adjustment to the Conversion Price had been made and become effective on or immediately after the relevant record date and in such event and in respect of such Additional Shares references in this Condition 6(B)(iv) to the Conversion Date shall be deemed to refer to the Relevant Effective Date (notwithstanding that the Relevant Effective Date falls after the end of the Conversion Period).

- (v) Equivalent Amounts: If the record date for the payment of any dividend or other distribution in respect of the Shares is on or after the Conversion Date in respect of any Bond, but before the Registration Date (disregarding any Retroactive Adjustment of the Conversion Price referred to in this Condition 6(B)(v) prior to the time such Retroactive Adjustment shall have become effective), the Issuer will calculate and pay to the converting Bondholder or his designee an amount in Hong Kong dollars (the "Equivalent Amount") equal to the Fair Market Value (as defined in Condition 6(H)) of such dividend or other distribution to which he would have been entitled had he on that record date been such a shareholder of record and will make the payment at the same time as it makes payment of the dividend or other distribution, or as soon as practicable thereafter, but, in any event, not later than seven days thereafter. The Equivalent Amount shall be paid by transfer to a Hong Kong dollar account maintained by the payee with, a bank in Hong Kong, in accordance with instructions given by the relevant Bondholder in the Conversion Notice.
- Interest Accrual: If any notice requiring the redemption of any Bonds is given pursuant to (vi) Conditions 8(B) or 8(C) on or after the 15th Hong Kong business day prior to a record date which has occurred since the last Interest Payment Date (or in the case of the first Interest Period, since the Issue Date) in respect of any dividend or distribution payable in respect of the Shares where such notice specifies a date for redemption falling on or prior to the date which is 14 days after the Interest Payment Date next following such record date, interest shall (subject as hereinafter provided) accrue on Bonds in respect of which Conversion Rights shall have been exercised or which are subject to the Mandatory Conversion and in respect of which the Conversion Date falls after such record date and on or prior to the Interest Payment Date next following such record date in each case from and including the preceding Interest Payment Date (or, if such Conversion Date falls before the first Interest Payment Date, from, and including, the Issue Date) to, but excluding, such Conversion Date; provided that no such interest shall accrue on any Bond in the event that the Shares issued on conversion thereof shall carry an entitlement to receive such dividend or distribution or in the event the Bond carries an entitlement to receive an Equivalent Amount. Any such interest shall be paid not later than 14 days after the relevant Conversion Date by transfer to a Hong Kong dollar account maintained by the payee with, a bank in Hong Kong, in accordance with instructions given by the relevant Bondholder in the Conversion Notice.

## (C) Adjustments to Conversion Price

The Conversion Price will be subject to adjustment as follows:

(1) Consolidation, Subdivision, Redesignation or Reclassification: If and whenever there shall be an alteration to the nominal value of the Shares as a result of consolidation, subdivision, redesignation or reclassification, the Conversion Price shall be adjusted by multiplying the Conversion Price in force immediately before such alteration by the following fraction:

 $\frac{A}{B}$ 

Where:

A is the nominal amount of one Share immediately after such alteration; and

B is the nominal amount of one Share immediately before such alteration.

Such adjustment shall become effective on the date such consolidation, subdivision, redesignation or reclassification takes effect.

# (2) Capitalisation of Profits or Reserves:

(i) If and whenever the Issuer shall issue any Shares credited as fully paid to the holders of Shares ("Shareholders") by way of capitalisation of profits or reserves (including Shares paid up out of distributable profits or reserves and/or share premium account (except any Scrip Dividend)) and which would not have constituted a Distribution, the Conversion Price shall be adjusted by multiplying the Conversion Price in force immediately before such issue by the following fraction:

 $\frac{A}{B}$ 

Where:

A is the aggregate nominal amount of the issued Shares immediately before such issue; and

B is the aggregate nominal amount of the issued Shares immediately after such issue.

Such adjustment shall become effective on the date of issue of such Shares or if a record date is fixed therefor, immediately after such record date.

(ii) In the case of an issue of Shares by way of a Scrip Dividend where the aggregate value of such Shares issued by way of Scrip Dividend as determined by reference to the Current Market Price per Share exceeds the amount of the Relevant Cash Dividend or the relevant part thereof and which would not have constituted a Distribution, the Conversion Price shall be adjusted by multiplying the Conversion Price in force immediately before the issue of such Shares by the following fraction:

$$\frac{A + B}{A + C}$$

Where:

A is the aggregate nominal amount of the issued Shares immediately before such issue:

B is the aggregate nominal amount of Shares issued by way of such Scrip Dividend multiplied by a fraction of which (i) the numerator is the amount of the whole, or the relevant part, of the Relevant Cash Dividend for which Shareholders have elected to receive as Shares issued by way of Scrip Dividend, and (ii) the denominator is the aggregate value of such Shares issued by way of Scrip Dividend as determined by reference to the Current Market Price per Share; and

C is the aggregate nominal amount of Shares issued by way of such Scrip Dividend.

Such adjustment shall become effective on the date of issue of such Shares or if a record date is fixed therefor, immediately after such record date.

(3) **Distributions**: If and whenever the Issuer shall pay or make any Distribution to the Shareholders (except to the extent that the Conversion Price falls to be adjusted under Condition 6(C)(2)), the Conversion Price shall be adjusted by multiplying the Conversion Price in force immediately before such Distribution by the following fraction:

$$\frac{A-B}{A}$$

Where:

- A is the Current Market Price per Share on the date on which the Distribution is first publicly announced; and
- B is the Fair Market Value on the date of such announcement of the portion of the Distribution attributable to one Share.

Such adjustment shall become effective on the date that such Distribution is actually made or if a record date is fixed therefor, immediately after such record date. For the purpose of the above, Fair Market Value shall (subject as provided in the definition of "Fair Market Value") be determined as at the date on which the Distribution is first publicly announced or, if later, the first date on which the Fair Market Value of the relevant Distribution is capable of being determined as provided herein.

In making any calculation pursuant to this Condition 6(C)(3), such adjustments (if any) shall be made as an Independent Investment Bank may consider appropriate to reflect (a) any consolidation or subdivision of the Shares, (b) issues of Shares by way of capitalisation of profits or reserves, or any like or similar event, (c) the modification of any rights to dividends of Shares or (d) any change in the fiscal year of the Issuer.

(4) **Rights Issues of Shares or Options over Shares**: If and whenever the Issuer shall issue Shares to all or substantially all Shareholders as a class by way of rights, or issue or grant to all or substantially all Shareholders as a class by way of rights, options, warrants or other rights to subscribe for, purchase or otherwise acquire any Shares, in each case at less than 95 per cent. of the Current Market Price per Share on the date of the first public announcement of the terms of the issue or grant, the Conversion Price shall be adjusted by multiplying the Conversion Price in force immediately before such issue or grant by the following fraction:

$$\frac{A+B}{A+C}$$

Where:

- A is the aggregate number of Shares in issue immediately before such announcement;
- B is the number of Shares which the aggregate consideration receivable for the Shares issued by way of rights or for the options or warrants or other rights issued or granted by way of rights and for the total number of Shares comprised therein would subscribe for, purchase or otherwise acquire at such Current Market Price per Share; and
- C is the aggregate number of Shares issued or, as the case may be, comprised in the issue or grant.

Such adjustment shall become effective on the date of issue of such Shares or issue or grant of such options, warrants or other rights (as the case may be) or where a record date is set, the first date on which the Shares are traded ex-rights, ex-options or ex-warrants, as the case may be.

(5) Rights Issues of Other Securities: If and whenever the Issuer shall issue any securities (other than Shares or options, warrants or other rights to subscribe for, purchase or otherwise acquire Shares) to all or substantially all Shareholders as a class by way of rights, or issue or grant to all or substantially all Shareholders as a class by way of rights, options, warrants or other rights to subscribe for, purchase or otherwise acquire any securities (other than Shares or options, warrants or other rights to subscribe for, purchase or otherwise acquire Shares), the Conversion

Price shall be adjusted by multiplying the Conversion Price in force immediately before such issue or grant by the following fraction:

$$\frac{A-B}{A}$$

Where:

- A is the Current Market Price per Share on the date on which such issue or grant is publicly announced; and
- B is the Fair Market Value per Share on the date of such announcement of the portion of the rights attributable to one Share.

Such adjustment shall become effective on the date of issue of the securities or the issue or grant of such rights, options or warrants (as the case may be) or where a record date is set, the first date on which the Shares are traded ex-rights, ex-options or ex-warrants, as the case may be. For the purpose of the above, Fair Market Value shall (subject as provided in the definition of "Fair Market Value") be determined as at the date on which the terms of such issue or grant are publicly announced, or if later, the first date on which the Fair Market Value of the aggregate rights attributable to the Shares in relation to such issue or grant is capable of being determined as provided herein.

(6) **Issues at less than Current Market Price**: If and whenever the Issuer shall issue (otherwise than as mentioned in Condition 6(C)(4)) any Shares (other than Shares issued on the exercise of Conversion Rights or on the exercise of any other rights of conversion into, or exchange or subscription for, Shares) or issue or grant (otherwise than as mentioned in Condition 6(C)(4)) options, warrants or other rights (other than the Conversion Rights under the Bonds, which excludes any further bonds issued pursuant to Condition 17) to subscribe for, purchase or otherwise acquire Shares in each case at a price per Share which is less than 95 per cent. of the Current Market Price on the date of the first public announcement of the terms of such grant or issue, the Conversion Price shall be adjusted by multiplying the Conversion Price in force immediately before such issue by the following fraction:

$$\frac{A+B}{C}$$

Where:

- A is the aggregate number of Shares in issue immediately before the issue of such additional Shares or the grant of such options, warrants or other rights to subscribe for, purchase or otherwise acquire any Shares;
- B is the number of Shares which the aggregate consideration receivable for the issue of the maximum number of Shares to be issued or the exercise of such options, warrants or other rights would purchase at such Current Market Price per Share; and
- C is the aggregate number of Shares in issue immediately after the issue of such additional Shares.

References to additional Shares in the above formula shall, in the case of an issue by the Issuer of options, warrants or other rights to subscribe or purchase Shares, mean such Shares to be issued assuming that such options, warrants or other rights are exercised in full at the initial exercise price on the date of issue or grant of such options, warrants or other rights.

Such adjustment shall become effective on the date of issue of such additional Shares or, as the case may be, the issue or grant of such options, warrants or other rights.

(7) Other Issues at less than Current Market Price: Save in the case of an issue of securities arising from a conversion or exchange of other securities in accordance with the terms applicable to such securities themselves falling within this Condition 6(C)(7), if and whenever the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries (otherwise than as mentioned in Conditions 6(C)(4), 6(C)(5) or 6(C)(6)), or (at the direction or request of or pursuant to any arrangements with the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries) any other company, person or entity shall issue any securities (other than the Bonds) which by their terms of issue carry rights of conversion into, or exchange or subscription for, Shares to be issued by the Issuer upon conversion, exchange or subscription at a consideration per Share which is less than 95 per cent. of the Current Market Price on the date of the first public announcement of the terms of issue of such securities, the Conversion Price shall be adjusted by multiplying the Conversion Price in force immediately before such issue by the following fraction:

$$\frac{A + B}{A + C}$$

Where:

- A is the aggregate number of Shares in issue immediately before such issue;
- B is the number of Shares which the aggregate consideration receivable by the Issuer for the Shares to be issued on conversion or exchange or on exercise of the right of subscription attached to such securities would purchase at such Current Market Price per Share; and
- C is the maximum number of Shares to be issued on conversion or exchange of such securities or on the exercise of such rights of subscription attached thereto at the initial conversion, exchange or subscription price or rate on the issue date of such securities.

Such adjustment shall become effective on the date of issue of such securities.

(8) **Modification of Rights of Conversion etc.**: If and whenever there shall be any modification of the rights of conversion, exchange or subscription attaching to any such securities as are mentioned in Condition 6(C)(7) (other than in accordance with the terms of such securities) so that the consideration per Share (for the number of Shares available on conversion, exchange or subscription following the modification) is reduced and is less than 95 per cent. of the Current Market Price on the date of announcement of the proposals for such modification, the Conversion Price shall be adjusted by multiplying the Conversion Price in force immediately before such modification by the following fraction:

$$\frac{A+B}{A+C}$$

Where:

- A is the aggregate number of Shares in issue immediately before such modification;
- B is the maximum number of Shares which the aggregate consideration receivable by the Issuer for the Shares to be issued on conversion or exchange or on exercise of the right of subscription attached to the securities so modified would purchase at such Current Market Price per Share or, if lower, the existing conversion, exchange or subscription price of such securities; and

C is the maximum number of Shares to be issued on conversion or exchange of such securities or on the exercise of such rights of subscription attached thereto at the modified conversion, exchange or subscription price or rate but giving credit in such manner as an Independent Investment Bank considers appropriate (if at all) for any previous adjustment under this Condition 6(C)(8) or Condition 6(C)(7).

Such adjustment shall become effective on the date of modification of the rights of conversion, exchange or subscription attaching to such securities.

(9) Other Offers to Shareholders: If and whenever the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries or (at the direction or request of or pursuant to any arrangements with the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries) any other company, person or entity issues, sells or distributes any securities in connection with an offer pursuant to which the Shareholders generally are entitled to participate in arrangements whereby such securities may be acquired by them (except where the Conversion Price falls to be adjusted under Conditions 6(C)(4), 6(C)(5), 6(C)(6) or 6(C)(7)), the Conversion Price shall be adjusted by multiplying the Conversion Price in force immediately before such issue, sale or distribution by the following fraction:

$$\frac{A - B}{A}$$

Where:

- A is the Current Market Price per Share on the date on which such issue, sale or distribution is publicly announced; and
- B is the Fair Market Value of the portion of the rights attributable to one Share.

Such adjustment shall become effective on the date of issue, sale or distribution of the securities. For the purpose of the above, Fair Market Value shall (subject as provided in the definition of "Fair Market Value") be determined as at the date on which the terms of such issue, sale or distribution of securities are first publicly announced or, if later, the first date on which the Fair Market Value of the portion of the aggregate rights attributable to the Shares is capable of being determined as provided herein.

Other Events: If the Issuer determines that an adjustment should be made to the Conversion Price as a result of one or more events or circumstances not referred to in this Condition 6, the Issuer shall, at its own expense, consult an Independent Investment Bank to determine as soon as practicable what adjustment (if any) to the Conversion Price is fair and reasonable to take account thereof, if the adjustment would result in a reduction in the Conversion Price, and the date on which such adjustment should take effect and upon such determination by the Independent Investment Bank such adjustment (if any) shall be made and shall take effect in accordance with such determination, provided that where the events or circumstances giving rise to any adjustment pursuant to this Condition 6 have already resulted or will result in an adjustment to the Conversion Price or where the events or circumstances giving rise to any adjustment arise by virtue of events or circumstances which have already given rise or will give rise to an adjustment to the Conversion Price, such modification (if any) shall be made to the operation of the provisions of this Condition 6 as may be advised by the Independent Investment Bank to be in its opinion appropriate to give the intended result. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the per Share value of any such adjustment shall not exceed the per Share value of the dilution in the Shareholders' interest in the Issuer's equity caused by such events or circumstances.

(11) Adjustment upon Change of Control: If a Change of Control shall occur, the Issuer shall give to Bondholders notice of that fact (a "Change of Control Notice") in accordance with Condition 11 within seven days after it becomes aware of such Change of Control (with a copy to the Trustee). Following the giving of a Change of Control Notice, upon any exercise of Conversion Rights such that the relevant Conversion Date falls within 30 days following a Change of Control, or, if later, 30 days following the date on which the Change of Control Notice is given to Bondholders (such period, the "Change of Control Conversion Period"), the Conversion Price shall be adjusted in accordance with the following formula:

$$NCP = \frac{OCP}{1 + (CP \times \frac{C}{t})}$$

Where:

NCP is the Conversion Price after such adjustment;

OCP is the Conversion Price before such adjustment. For the

avoidance of doubt, OCP shall be the Conversion Price in effect

on the relevant Conversion Date;

CP is the conversion premium of 34.0 per cent. expressed as a

fraction;

c is the number of days from and including the date the Change of

Control occurs to but excluding the Maturity Date; and

t is the number of days from and including the Issue Date to but

excluding the Maturity Date,

provided that the Conversion Price shall not be reduced pursuant to this Condition 6(C)(11) below the level permitted by applicable laws and regulations from time to time (if any).

If the last day of a Change of Control Conversion Period shall fall during a Restricted Transfer Period, the Change of Control Conversion Period shall be extended such that its last day will be the fifteenth day following the last day of the Restricted Transfer Period.

On the business day immediately following the last day of the Change of Control Conversion Period, the Conversion Price shall be re-adjusted to the Conversion Price in force immediately before the adjustment to the Conversion Price during the Change of Control Conversion Period.

## (D) Undertakings

The Issuer undertakes that so long as any Bond remains outstanding, save with the approval of an Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the Trust Deed) of the Bondholders:

- (i) it will use its best endeavours (a) to maintain a listing for all the issued Shares on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, and (b) to obtain and maintain a listing for all the Shares issued on the exercise of the Conversion Rights or upon a Mandatory Conversion or the Further Mandatory Conversion on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, and if the Issuer is unable to obtain or maintain such listing, to use its best endeavours to obtain and maintain a listing for all the issued Shares on an Alternative Stock Exchange as the Issuer may from time to time determine and will forthwith give notice to the Bondholders in accordance with Condition 11 of the listing or delisting of the Shares (as a class) by any such stock exchange;
- (ii) it will use its best endeavours to maintain the listing of the Bonds on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and if the Issuer is unable to maintain such listing, to use its best endeavours to obtain

and maintain a listing on another internationally recognised stock exchange as the Issuer may from time to time determine and will forthwith give notice to the Bondholders in accordance with Condition 11 of the listing or delisting of the Bonds by any such stock exchange;

- (iii) it will pay the expenses of the issue of, and all expenses of obtaining a listing for, Shares arising on conversion of the Bonds (save for the Taxes specified in Condition 6(B)(ii)); and
- (iv) it will not make any reduction of its ordinary share capital or any uncalled liability in respect thereof or of any share premium account or capital redemption reserve fund except, in each case, where the reduction is permitted by applicable law and results in (or would, but for the provision of these Conditions relating to rounding or the carry forward of adjustments, result in) an adjustment to the Conversion Price or is otherwise taken into account for the purposes of determining whether such an adjustment should be made provided always that the Issuer shall not be prohibited from purchasing its Shares to the extent permitted by law.

In the Trust Deed, the Issuer has also undertaken with the Trustee that so long as any Bond remains outstanding:

- (i) it will reserve, free from any other pre-emptive or other similar rights, out of its authorised but unissued ordinary share capital the full number of Shares liable to be issued on conversion of the Bonds from time to time remaining outstanding and shall ensure that all Shares delivered on conversion of the Bonds will be duly and validly issued as fully-paid; and
- (ii) it will not make any offer, issue, grant or distribute or take any action the effect of which would be to reduce the Conversion Price below the par value of the Shares of the Issuer, provided always that the Issuer shall not be prohibited from purchasing its Shares to the extent permitted by law.

The Issuer has also given certain other undertakings in the Trust Deed for the protection of the Conversion Rights.

# (E) Provisions Relating to Changes in Conversion Price

- (i) *Minor adjustments*: On any adjustment, the resultant Conversion Price, if not an integral multiple of one Hong Kong cent, shall be rounded down to the nearest Hong Kong cent. No adjustment shall be made to the Conversion Price if such adjustment (rounded down if applicable) would be less than one per cent. of the Conversion Price then in effect. Any adjustment not required to be made, and/or any amount by which the Conversion Price has been rounded down, shall be carried forward and taken into account in any subsequent adjustment, and such subsequent adjustment shall be made on the basis that the adjustment not required to be made had been made at the relevant time and/or, as the case may be, that the relevant rounding down had not been made. Notice of any adjustment shall be given by the Issuer to Bondholders in accordance with Condition 11 and to the Trustee and the Conversion Agent promptly after the determination thereof.
- (ii) Decision of an Independent Investment Bank: If any doubt shall arise as to whether an adjustment falls to be made to the Conversion Price or as to how an adjustment to the Conversion Price under Condition 6(C) should be made, and following consultation between the Issuer and an Independent Investment Bank, a written opinion of such Independent Investment Bank in respect thereof shall be conclusive and binding on the Issuer, the Bondholders and the Trustee, save in the case of manifest error. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the per Share value of any such adjustment shall not exceed the per Share value of the dilution in the Shareholders' interest in the Issuer's equity caused by such events or circumstances.

- (iii) Minimum Conversion Price: Notwithstanding the provisions of this Condition 6, the Issuer undertakes that: (a) the Conversion Price shall not in any event be reduced to below the nominal or par value of the Shares as a result of any adjustment hereunder unless under applicable law then in effect the Bonds may be converted at such reduced Conversion Price into legally issued, fully paid and non-assessable Shares; and (b) it shall not take any action, and shall procure that no action is taken, that would otherwise result in an adjustment to the Conversion Price to below such nominal or par value or any minimum level permitted by applicable laws or regulations.
- (iv) Reference to "fixed": Any references herein to the date on which a consideration is "fixed" shall, where the consideration is originally expressed by reference to a formula which cannot be expressed as an actual cash amount until a later date, be construed as a reference to the first day on which such actual cash amount can be ascertained.
- (v) Multiple events: Where more than one event which gives or may give rise to an adjustment to the Conversion Price occurs within such a short period of time that in the opinion of an Independent Investment Bank, the foregoing provisions would need to be operated subject to some modification in order to give the intended result, such modification shall be made to the operation of the foregoing provisions as may be advised by such Independent Investment Bank to be in its opinion appropriate in order to give such intended result.
- (vi) *Upward/downward adjustment*: No adjustment involving an increase in the Conversion Price will be made, except in the case of a consolidation or re-classification of the Shares as referred to in Condition 6(C)(1). The Issuer may at any time and for a specified period of time only, following notice being given to the Trustee and the Bondholders in accordance with Condition 11, reduce the Conversion Price, subject to Condition 6(E)(iii).
- (vii) Trustee and Agents not obliged to Monitor: Neither the Trustee nor any Agent shall be under any duty to monitor whether any event or circumstance has happened or exists which may require an adjustment to be made to the Conversion Price or to make any calculation (or verification thereof) in connection with the Conversion Price and will not be responsible to Bondholders for any loss arising from any failure by it to do so or for any delay by the Issuer in making a determination or any erroneous determination in connection with the Conversion Price.
- (viii) Notice of Change in Conversion Price: The Issuer shall give notice to the Bondholders in accordance with Condition 11 and to the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (if required under The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited) of any change in the Conversion Price. Any such notice relating to a change in the Conversion Price shall set forth the event giving rise to the adjustment, the Conversion Price prior to such adjustment, the adjusted Conversion Price and the effective date of such adjustment.
- (ix) Share Scheme Shares/Options: Notwithstanding any provision in this Condition 6, no adjustment will be made to the Conversion Price when Shares or other securities (including rights or options) are issued, offered, exercised, allotted or granted to, or for the benefit of, among others, employees and/or former employees (including directors and/or former directors) of the Issuer or any Subsidiary pursuant to (a) the pre-IPO share option scheme adopted by the Issuer, the terms of which were described in the Issuer's initial public offering prospectus dated 16 February 2017 (the "Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme"), or (b) any other employee share scheme or plan (and which employee share scheme or plan is in compliance with the listing rules of the Relevant Stock Exchange) ("Share Scheme Shares/Options") unless any grant or issue of Share Scheme Shares/Options (which, but for this provision, would have required

adjustment pursuant to Condition 6) would result in the total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of such Share Scheme Shares/Options (except for the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme) granted during any 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant representing, in aggregate, over 1.0 per cent. of the average number of issued and outstanding Shares during such 12-month period, in which case only such portion of the grant or issue of Share Scheme Shares/Options that exceeds 1.0 per cent. of the average number of issued and outstanding Shares during the relevant 12-month period shall be taken into account in determining adjustment of the Conversion Price pursuant to Condition 6.

- (x) IFC Loan Agreement: Notwithstanding any provision in this Condition 6, no adjustment will be made to the Conversion Price when Shares are issued pursuant to the terms of the loan agreement in effect as at 3 December 2019 entered into between the Issuer, China YuHua Education Investment Limited, China Hong Kong YuHua Education Limited and International Finance Corporation on 31 May 2018.
- (xi) Dividends in respect of the year ended 31 August 2019: For the avoidance of doubt, the declaration of final dividends by the Issuer in respect of the year ended 31 August 2019 of HK\$0.073 per Share, which will be subject to the approval of the shareholders of the Issuer (as disclosed in the Issuer's annual results announcement for the year ended 31 December 2019 published on 29 November 2019), will constitute Distributions and give rise to an adjustment of the Conversion Price pursuant to Condition 6(C) after approval of the distribution of such dividends by the shareholders of the Issuer.

# (F) Mandatory Conversion

(i) Unless a Share Delivery EoD has occurred and is continuing, at any time after 1 March 2023 and prior to the Maturity Date, upon the Issuer giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days' notice (such period of not less than 30 nor more than 60 days' of notice shall herein be referred to as the "Notice Period") to the Trustee and the Principal Agent in writing and to the Bondholders in accordance with Condition 11 ("Mandatory Conversion Notice"), all outstanding Bonds shall be converted into Shares credited as fully paid on the Conversion Date (as defined in Condition 6(B)(i)) in accordance with the provisions of Condition 6 (save where modified by this Condition 6(F)), provided that the VWAP of the Shares for at least 20 Trading Days (whether or not consecutive) out of 30 consecutive Trading Days (such period of 30 consecutive Trading Days, the "Observation Period"), the last of which occurs not more than five Trading Days prior to the date upon which the relevant Mandatory Conversion Notice is published was at least 130 per cent. of the Conversion Price then in effect immediately prior to the date upon which the Mandatory Conversion Notice is given (the "Mandatory Conversion Condition"). For the avoidance of doubt, if any Share Delivery EoD has occurred prior to or during the Notice Period, (i) any Mandatory Conversion Notice delivered shall be deemed to be void and of no effect and (ii) no Mandatory Conversion shall take effect under this Condition 6(F), provided that if such Share Delivery EoD is remedied, the Issuer's right to require Mandatory Conversion under this Condition 6(F) shall revive (subject to the Issuer being required to deliver a new Mandatory Conversion Notice specifying a new Notice Period and contingent on the Mandatory Conversion Condition being met at such time with any Observation Period commencing on or after the date of such remedy of the Share Delivery EoD). "Mandatory Conversion" means a mandatory conversion of the Bonds pursuant to this Condition 6(F). Each Mandatory Conversion Notice shall include a certification by an Authorised Signatory of the Issuer that the Mandatory Conversion Condition has been satisfied.

None of the Trustee nor the Agents shall have any duty or responsibility at any time in respect of the determination of whether the Mandatory Conversion Condition has been satisfied. None of the Trustee nor the Agents shall have any duty or responsibility for any aspect with respect to the delivery of Shares including the appointment of the Share Transfer Agent or Relevant Person, the validity of or the determination of the value (or the kind or amount) of the Shares (including determination of the VWAP) or the value of any Shares which may at any time be issued or delivered on the conversion of any Bonds. None of the Trustee nor the Agents shall be responsible for any failure of the Issuer, the Relevant Person or the Share Transfer Agent to make available or deliver any Shares, share certificates or any other securities or property or make any payment or distribution on the exercise of any Conversion Right or upon a Mandatory Conversion.

- (ii) The Issuer shall pay directly to the relevant authorities any Duties and Taxes arising on any Mandatory Conversion, and shall pay all other expenses arising on the issue of Shares on conversion of the Bonds pursuant to any Mandatory Conversion and all charges of the Agents and the Share Transfer Agent. Neither the Bondholders, the Trustee nor any of the Agents shall be responsible for paying any Duties, Taxes, expenses or other amounts referred to in this Condition 6(F)(ii).
- (iii) As a precondition to any delivery of any Shares pursuant to a Mandatory Conversion of the Bonds (but not, for the avoidance of doubt, to the payment of any accrued interest or Equivalent Amount pursuant to these Conditions), a Bondholder shall be required to deliver the relevant Certificate evidencing such Bond accompanied by a duly completed and signed Conversion Notice in the form (for the time being current) obtainable from any Conversion Agent, to the specified office of any Conversion Agent during normal business hours (being between 9:00 a.m. and 3:00 p.m. on a business day) at the place where the Certificate evidencing such Bond is deposited for conversion, by not later than 10 Stock Exchange Business Days prior to the Conversion Date.

Following the Conversion Date, all Bonds shall irrevocably be written down in the Clearing Systems. The Agents are entitled to mark down the Bonds pursuant to this Condition 6(F) on the Conversion Date without any further instruction from any person, regardless of whether the delivery of Shares has been delivered to all Bondholders and/or the Relevant Person (as applicable) and shall not be liable to any person for so doing.

(iv) If, in the case of a Mandatory Conversion of any Bonds, the Conversion Notice and/or the relevant Certificate(s) representing such Bonds are not delivered to the specified office of any Conversion Agent during normal business hours by no later than 10 Stock Exchange Business Days prior to the Conversion Date (such Bonds being the "Unsurrendered Bonds"), the relevant Shares will be issued and/or transferred and delivered to a person (the "Relevant Person") selected by the Issuer on the relevant Conversion Date to be held on trust for the relevant Bondholders. Upon a Bondholder of Unsurrendered Bonds identifying themselves to the Issuer and furnishing evidence reasonably satisfactory to the Issuer of its holdings, the Issuer shall cause the Shares issued to the Relevant Person (or the relevant portion thereof) to be delivered to such Bondholder in proportion to the aggregate principal amount of such Unsurrendered Bonds held by such relevant Bondholder (with any fees and costs in connection with such delivery to be borne by such Bondholder, including in respect of the appointment of the Relevant Person). None of the Trustee nor the Agents shall have any duty or responsibility at any time in respect of the delivery of such Shares.

So long as the Bonds are represented by the Global Certificate and the Global Certificate is held on behalf of Euroclear, Clearstream or any other clearing system (each, a "relevant clearing system"), delivery of Shares in respect of any Unsurrendered Bonds will be made directly by the Issuer upon presentation of evidence reasonably satisfactory to the Issuer of a Bondholder's holdings through the relevant clearing systems.

(v) Any such Shares transferred and/or cash amount paid as aforesaid to a Bondholder pursuant to this Condition 6(F), along with any applicable accrued interest or Equivalent Amount pursuant to these Conditions shall be treated for all purposes as discharging the Issuer's obligations in respect of the Mandatory Conversion of the Unsurrendered Bonds, and all rights of each relevant Bondholder to principal and interest in respect of such Unsurrendered Bonds shall be extinguished upon the transfer of Shares and/or payment of the relevant amount in accordance with this Condition 6(F).

## (G) Further Mandatory Conversion

(i) The Issuer shall give not less than ten Stock Exchange Business Days nor more than 15 Stock Exchange Business Days' notice to the Trustee and the Principal Agent in writing and to the Bondholders in accordance with Condition 11 ("Further Mandatory Conversion Notice"), that all outstanding Bonds shall be converted into Shares credited as fully paid on the Maturity Date pursuant to Condition 8(A).

"Further Mandatory Conversion" means a mandatory conversion of the Bonds pursuant to this Condition 6(G).

None of the Trustee nor the Agents shall have any duty or responsibility for any aspect with respect to the delivery of Shares including the appointment of the Share Transfer Agent or Relevant Person, the validity of or the determination of the value (or the kind or amount) of the Shares (including determination of the VWAP) or the value of any Shares which may at any time be issued or delivered on the conversion of any Bonds. None of the Trustee nor the Agents shall be responsible for any failure of the Issuer, the Relevant Person or the Share Transfer Agent to make available or deliver any Shares, share certificates or any other securities or property or make any payment or distribution upon the Further Mandatory Conversion.

- (ii) The Issuer shall pay directly to the relevant authorities any Duties and Taxes arising on the Further Mandatory Conversion, and shall pay all other expenses arising on the issue of Shares on conversion of the Bonds pursuant to the Further Mandatory Conversion and all charges of the Agents and the Share Transfer Agent. Neither the Bondholders, the Trustee nor any of the Agents shall be responsible for paying any Duties, Taxes, expenses or other amounts referred to in this Condition 6(G)(ii).
- (iii) As a precondition to any delivery of any Shares pursuant to the Further Mandatory Conversion of the Bonds, a Bondholder shall be required to deliver the relevant Certificate evidencing such Bond accompanied by a duly completed and signed Conversion Notice in the form (for the time being current) obtainable from any Conversion Agent, to the specified office of any Conversion Agent during normal business hours (being between 9:00 a.m. and 3:00 p.m. on a business day) at the place where the Certificate evidencing such Bond is deposited for conversion, by not later than three Stock Exchange Business Days prior to the Maturity Date.

Following the Maturity Date, all Bonds shall irrevocably be written down in the Clearing Systems. The Agents are entitled to mark down the Bonds pursuant to this Condition 6(G) on the Maturity Date without any further instruction from any person, regardless of whether the

- delivery of Shares has been delivered to all Bondholders and/or the Relevant Person (as applicable) and shall not be liable to any person for so doing.
- (iv) If, in the case of the Further Mandatory Conversion of any Bonds, the Conversion Notice and/or the relevant Certificate(s) representing such Bonds are not delivered to the specified office of any Conversion Agent during normal business hours by no later than three Stock Exchange Business Days prior to the Maturity Date (such Bonds being the "Relevant Unsurrendered Bonds"), the relevant Shares will be issued and/or transferred and delivered to the Relevant Person selected by the Issuer on the Maturity Date to be held on trust for the relevant Bondholders. Upon a Bondholder of Relevant Unsurrendered Bonds identifying themselves to the Issuer and furnishing evidence reasonably satisfactory to the Issuer of its holdings, the Issuer shall cause the Shares issued to the Relevant Person (or the relevant portion thereof) to be delivered to such Bondholder in proportion to the aggregate principal amount of such Relevant Unsurrendered Bonds held by such relevant Bondholder (with any fees and costs in connection with such delivery to be borne by such Bondholder, including in respect of the appointment of the Relevant Person). None of the Trustee nor the Agents shall have any duty or responsibility at any time in respect of the delivery of such Shares.

So long as the Bonds are represented by the Global Certificate and the Global Certificate is held on behalf of Euroclear, Clearstream or any other clearing system (each, a "relevant clearing system"), delivery of Shares in respect of any Relevant Unsurrendered Bonds will be made directly by the Issuer upon presentation of evidence reasonably satisfactory to the Issuer of a Bondholder's holdings through the relevant clearing systems.

(v) Any such Shares transferred as aforesaid to a Bondholder pursuant to this Condition 6(G) shall be treated for all purposes as discharging the Issuer's obligations in respect of the Further Mandatory Conversion of the Relevant Unsurrendered Bonds, and all rights of each relevant Bondholder to principal in respect of such Relevant Unsurrendered Bonds shall be extinguished upon the transfer of Shares and/or payment of the relevant amount in accordance with this Condition 6(G).

## (H) Definitions

For the purposes of these Conditions:

- "Affiliate" means, with respect to any person, any other person directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by, or under direct or indirect common control with, such person. For purposes of this definition, the terms "controlling," "controlled by" and "under common control with", as applied to any person, means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.
- "Alternative Stock Exchange" means at any time, in the case of the Shares, if they are not at that time listed and traded on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, the principal stock exchange or securities market on which the Shares are then listed or quoted or dealt in;
- "Capital Stock" means, with respect to any person, any and all shares, interests, participations or other equivalents (however designated, whether voting or non-voting) in equity of such person, whether outstanding on the Issue Date or issued thereafter, including, without limitation, all Common Stock and Preferred Stock, but excluding debt securities convertible into such equity.
- a "Change of Control" occurs when:

- (a) the direct or indirect sale, transfer, conveyance or other disposition (other than by way of merger or consolidation), in one or a series of related transactions, of all or substantially all of the properties or assets of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, to any "person" (within the meaning of Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act), other than one or more Permitted Holders or any Subsidiary of the Issuer;
- (b) the merger, amalgamation or consolidation of the Issuer with or into another person or the merger or amalgamation of another person with or into the Issuer, or the sale of all or substantially all the assets of the Issuer to another person;
- (c) the Permitted Holders are the beneficial owners within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act of less than 40.0 per cent. of the total voting power of the Voting Stock of the Issuer;
- (d) any "person" or "group" (as such terms are used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act) is or becomes the "beneficial owner" (as such term is used in Rule 13d-3 of the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of total voting power of the Voting Stock of the Issuer greater than such total voting power held beneficially by the Permitted Holders;
- (e) individuals who on the Issue Date constituted the board of directors of the Issuer, together with any new directors whose election by the board of directors was approved by a vote of at least two-thirds of the directors then still in office who were either directors or whose election was previously so approved, cease for any reason to constitute a majority of the board of directors of the Issuer then in office; or
- (f) the adoption of a plan relating to the liquidation or dissolution of the Issuer.

"Closing Price" means, in respect of a Share for any Trading Day, the price published in the Daily Quotation Sheet published by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange or, as the case may be, the equivalent quotation sheet of an Alternative Stock Exchange for such Trading Day;

"Common Stock" means, with respect to any person, any and all shares, interests or other participations in, and other equivalents (however designated and whether voting or non-voting) of such person's common stock or ordinary shares, whether or not outstanding on the Issue Date, and include, without limitation, all series and classes of such common stock or ordinary shares.

"Control" means the acquisition or control of more than 50 per cent. of the Voting Rights of the issued share capital of the Issuer or the right to appoint and/or remove all or the majority of the members of the Issuer's board of directors or other governing body, whether obtained directly or indirectly, and whether obtained by ownership of share capital, the possession of Voting Rights, contract or otherwise;

"Current Market Price" means, in respect of a Share on a particular date, the average of the daily Closing Prices of one Share on each of the 20 consecutive Trading Days ending on and including (i) the Trading Day immediately preceding such date or (ii) if the relevant announcement was made after the close of trading on such date (being a Trading Day), such date of announcement; provided that if at any time during such 20 Trading Day period the Shares shall have been quoted ex-dividend (or exany other entitlement) and during some other part of that period the Shares shall have been quoted cum-dividend (or cum-any other entitlement) then:

(a) if the Shares to be issued in such circumstances do not rank for the dividend (or entitlement) in question, the Closing Price on the dates on which the Shares shall have been quoted cum-

dividend (or cum-any other entitlement) shall for the purpose of this definition be deemed to be the amount thereof reduced by an amount equal to the Fair Market Value of that dividend per Share; or

(b) if the Shares to be issued in such circumstances rank for the dividend or entitlement in question, the Closing Price on the dates on which the Shares shall have been quoted ex-dividend (or ex-any other entitlement) shall for the purpose of this definition be deemed to be the amount thereof increased by the Fair Market Value of that dividend per Share;

and provided further that if on each of the said 20 Trading Days the Shares have been quoted cumdividend (or cum-any other entitlement) in respect of a dividend (or other entitlement) which has been declared or announced but the Shares to be issued do not rank for that dividend (or other entitlement), the Closing Price on each of such dates shall for the purposes of this definition be deemed to be the amount thereof reduced by an amount equal to the Fair Market Value of that dividend per Share;

"Distribution" means, on a per Share basis, (i) the aggregate distribution of assets in specie by the Issuer for any financial period whenever paid or made and however described (and for these purposes a distribution of assets in specie includes, without limitation, an issue of Shares or other securities credited as fully or partly paid by way of capitalisation of reserves, but excludes any Shares credited as fully paid to the extent an adjustment to the Conversion Price is made in respect hereof under Condition 6(C)(2)(i) and a Scrip Dividend adjusted for under Condition 6(C)(2)(ii)); and (ii) the aggregate cash dividend or distribution on a gross basis (including, without limitation, the relevant cash amount of a Scrip Dividend) of any kind by the Issuer for any financial period (whenever paid and however described) unless it comprises a purchase or redemption of Shares by or on behalf of the Issuer (or a purchase of Shares by or on behalf of a Subsidiary of the Issuer), where the weighted average price or consideration (before expenses) on any one day in respect of such purchases does not exceed the Current Market Price of the Shares by more than five per cent. either (1) on that date, or (2) where an announcement has been made of the intention to purchase Shares at some future date at a specified price, on the Trading Day immediately preceding the date of such announcement and, if in the case of either (1) or (2), the relevant day is not a Trading Day, the immediately preceding Trading Day;

"Exchange Act" means the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

"Fair Market Value" means, with respect to any asset, security, option, warrant or other right on any date, the fair market value of that asset, security, option, warrant or other right as determined by an Independent Investment Bank on the basis of commonly accepted market valuation method and taking into account such factors as it considers appropriate, provided that an Independent Investment Bank will not be required to determine the fair market value where (i) the Distribution is paid in cash, in which case the fair market value of such cash Distribution per Share shall be the amount of such cash Distribution per Share, (ii) any other amounts are paid in cash, in which case the fair market value of such cash amount shall be the amount of cash, and (iii) options, warrants or other rights or securities are or will upon issuance be publicly traded in a market of adequate liquidity (as determined by such Independent Investment Bank), the fair market value of such options, warrants or other rights or securities shall equal the arithmetic mean of the daily closing price of such options, warrants or other rights or securities during the period of five trading days on the relevant market commencing on the first such trading day such options, warrants or other rights or securities are publicly traded. Such amounts, if expressed in a currency other than Hong Kong dollars shall be translated into Hong Kong dollars at the Prevailing Rate on such date. In addition, in the case of proviso (i) and (ii) above, the Fair Market Value shall be determined on a gross basis and disregarding any withholding or deduction required to be made for or on account of tax and disregarding any associated tax credit;

"Hong Kong Stock Exchange" means The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited or its successor thereto:

"Independent Investment Bank" means an independent investment bank of international repute (acting as an expert) selected by the Issuer and notified in writing to the Trustee. The Trustee shall not be responsible for or under any obligation to appoint an Independent Investment Bank and shall have no responsibility or liability for verifying any calculation, determination, certification, advice or opinion made, given or reached by it;

#### "Permitted Holders" means any or all of the following:

- (1) Mr. Li Guangyu and Ms. Li Hua, their spouses or immediate family members or any trust established by any of them for their own benefit or for the benefit of any of their immediate family members;
- (2) any Affiliate of the person specified in clause (1) of this definition of Permitted Holders; and
- (3) any person both the Capital Stock and the Voting Stock of which (or in the case of a trust, the beneficial interests in which) are owned 80 per cent. by persons specified in clauses (1) or (2) of this definition of Permitted Holders.
- a "person" includes any individual, company, corporation, firm, partnership, joint venture, undertaking, association, organisation, trust, state or agency of a state (in each case whether or not being a separate legal entity).
- "Preferred Stock" as applied to the Capital Stock of any person means Capital Stock of any class or classes that by its term is preferred as to the payment of dividends, or as to the distribution of assets upon any voluntary or involuntary liquidation or dissolution of such person, over shares of Capital Stock of any other class of such person.
- "Prevailing Rate" means, in respect of any currency on any day, the bid exchange rate between the relevant currencies prevailing as at or about 12:00 noon (Hong Kong time) on that date as appearing on or derived from the Relevant Page or, if such a rate cannot be determined at such time, the rate prevailing as at or about 12:00 noon (Hong Kong time) on the immediately preceding day on which such rate can be so determined;
- "Relevant Cash Dividend" means the aggregate cash dividend or distribution declared by the Issuer, including any cash dividend in respect of which there is any Scrip Dividend;

#### a "Relevant Event" occurs:

- (i) when the Shares cease to be listed or admitted to trading or are suspended from trading for a
  period equal to or exceeding 20 consecutive Trading Days on Hong Kong Stock Exchange or,
  if applicable, the Alternative Stock Exchange;
- (ii) when less than 25 per cent. of the Issuer's total number of issued shares are held by public; or
- (iii) when there is a Change of Control.
- "Relevant Page" means the relevant Bloomberg BFIX page (or its successor page) or, if there is no such page, on the relevant Reuters HKDFIX page (or its successor page) or such other information service provider that displays the relevant information;

"Relevant Stock Exchange" means at any time, in respect of the Shares, the Hong Kong Stock Exchange or the Alternative Stock Exchange;

"Scrip Dividend" means any Shares issued in lieu of the whole or any part of any Relevant Cash Dividend, being a dividend which the Shareholders concerned would or could otherwise have received (and for the avoidance of doubt, to the extent that an adjustment is made under Condition 6(C)(3) in respect of the Relevant Cash Dividend, no adjustment is to be made for the amount by which the Current Market Price of the Shares exceeds the Relevant Cash Dividend or part thereof for which an adjustment is already made under Condition 6(C)(2)(ii);

"Share Delivery EoD" means an Event of Default pursuant to Condition 10(A)(ii) (Failure to deliver Shares).

"Trading Day" means a day when the Hong Kong Stock Exchange or, as the case may be an Alternative Stock Exchange, is open for dealing business, provided that for the purposes of any calculation where a Closing Price or VWAP is required, if no Closing Price or VWAP is reported for one or more consecutive dealing days such day or days will be disregarded in any relevant calculation and shall be deemed not to have been dealing days when ascertaining any period of dealing days; and

"Voting Rights" means the right generally to vote at a general meeting of shareholders of the Issuer;

"Voting Stock" means, with respect to any person, Capital Stock of any class or kind ordinarily having the power to vote for the election of directors, managers or other voting members of the governing body of such person; and

"VWAP" means, in respect of a Share on any Trading Day, the order book volume-weighted average price of a Share published by or derived from Bloomberg (or any successor service) page "VAP" or such other source as shall be determined to be appropriate by an Independent Investment Bank on such Trading Day, provided that on any such Trading Day where such price is not available or cannot otherwise be determined as provided above, the VWAP of a Share in respect of such Trading Day shall be the VWAP, determined as provided above, on the immediately preceding Trading Day on which the same can be so determined.

References to any issue or offer or grant to Shareholders "as a class" or "by way of rights" shall be taken to be references to an issue or offer or grant to all or substantially all Shareholders, other than Shareholders by reason of the laws of any territory or requirements of any recognised regulatory body or any other stock exchange or securities market in any territory or in connection with fractional entitlements, it is determined not to make such issue or offer or grant.

### 7 Payments

# (A) Method of Payment

Payment of principal and interest and any other amount due will be made by transfer to the registered account of the Bondholder. Such payment will only be made after surrender of the relevant Certificate at the specified office of any of the Agents.

If an amount which is due on the Bonds is not paid in full, the Registrar will annotate the Register with a record of the amount (if any) in fact paid.

References in these Conditions, the Trust Deed and the Agency Agreement to principal in respect of any Bond shall, where the context so permits, be deemed to include a reference to any premium payable thereon.

So long as the Bonds are represented by the Global Certificate and the Global Certificate is held on behalf of a relevant clearing system (as defined above), each payment of principal of, and any other amounts (including premium) due under, the Bonds evidenced by the Global Certificate will be made to the person shown as the holder in the Register at the close of business of the relevant clearing system on the Clearing System Business Day (as defined above) before the due date for such payments.

## (B) Registered Accounts

For the purposes of this Condition 7, a Bondholder's registered account means the Hong Kong dollar account maintained by or on behalf of it with a bank in Hong Kong, details of which appear on the Register at the close of business on the second Payment Business Day (as defined in Condition 7(F)) before the due date for payment, and a Bondholder's registered address means its address appearing on the Register at that time.

### (C) Payments Subject to Fiscal Laws

All payments are subject in all cases to (i) any applicable fiscal or other laws, regulations and directives in the place of payment but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 9 and (ii) any withholding or deduction required pursuant to an agreement described in Section 1471(b) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code") or otherwise imposed pursuant to Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, any regulations or agreements thereunder, any official interpretations thereof, or (without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 9 any law implementing an intergovernmental approach thereto). No commission or expenses shall be charged to the Bondholders in respect of such payments.

#### (D) Payment Initiation

Where payment is to be made by transfer to a registered account, payment instructions (for value on the due date or, if that is not a Payment Business Day (as defined in Condition 7(F)), for value on the first following day which is a Payment Business Day) will be initiated on the due date for payment (or, if it is not a Payment Business Day, the immediately following Payment Business Day) or, in the case of a payment of principal, if later, on the Payment Business Day on which the relevant Certificate is surrendered at the specified office of an Agent.

## (E) Default Interest and Delay in Payment

If the Issuer fails to pay any sum in respect of the Bonds when the same becomes due and payable under these Conditions, interest shall accrue on the overdue sum at the rate of 3.90 per cent. per annum from the due date. Such default interest shall accrue on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed and a 365-day year.

Bondholders will not be entitled to any interest or other payment for any delay after the due date in receiving the amount due if the due date is not a Payment Business Day, if the Bondholder is late in surrendering its Certificate (if required to do so).

## (F) Payment Business Day

In this Condition 7, "Payment Business Day" means a day other than a Saturday or Sunday on which commercial banks are open for business in Hong Kong and the city in which the specified office of the Principal Agent is located and, in the case of the surrender of a Certificate, in the place where the Certificate is surrendered.

### (G) Agents

The initial Agents and their initial specified offices are listed below. The Issuer reserves the right at any time, with the prior written approval of the Trustee, to vary or terminate the appointment of any Agent and appoint additional or replacement Agents, provided that it will maintain (i) a Principal Agent, (ii) a Registrar with a specified office outside Hong Kong and the United Kingdom, and (iii) such other agents as may be required by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. Notice of any changes in any Agent or their specified offices will promptly be given to the Bondholders.

# 8 Redemption, Purchase and Cancellation

## (A) Maturity

Unless previously redeemed, converted or purchased and cancelled as provided herein, (i) the Issuer shall (1), on [Date of Extraordinary Resolution + 5 business days] 2025, redeem (on a pro rata basis) HK\$430,000,000 in aggregate principal amount outstanding of the Bonds, at their principal amount and (2), on 1 April 2025, pay (on a pro rata basis) to holders of the Bonds as of [Date of Extraordinary **Resolution** + 5 business days] the amount of interest calculated by the escrow agent (such amount of interest to be notified by the Issuer to the Trustee, the Principal Agent and the Bondholders on 25 March 2025) that will accrue on such HK\$430,000,000 outstanding principal amount of the Bonds pursuant to an escrow agreement entered into amongst the Issuer, the escrow agent and certain of the Bondholders on 27 December 2024 (for the period from and including 2 January 2024 to but excluding the [Date of Extraordinary Resolution + 5 business days] 2025) ("Escrow Interest") (and the outstanding principal amount of the Bonds remaining following such redemption, being the "Remaining Principal Amount of the Bonds"), and (ii) provided that the Issuer has issued the Further Mandatory Conversion Notice, the Remaining Principal Amount of the Bonds shall be mandatorily converted into Shares on the 10th Stock Exchange Business Day after the Resumption of Trading Date (the "Maturity Date") and credited as fully paid on the Maturity Date in accordance with the provisions of Condition 6. The Issuer may not redeem the Bonds at its option prior to that date except as provided in Conditions 8(A), 8(B) or 8(C) (but without prejudice to Condition 10). For the avoidance of doubt, the Escrow Interest is separate to interest accrued in respect of the Bonds under Condition 5.

The Trustee, the Agents and the Issuer shall not be responsible or liable to Bondholders for any loss arising from any failure by the escrow agent to deliver the interest calculation set out in Conditions 8(A)(i)(2) above on a timely basis or at all. The Trustee and the Agents shall not be responsible or liable to verify any calculation or determination of the Escrow Interest and will not be responsible to Bondholders or any other person for any loss arising from any failure to do so.

## (B) Redemption for Taxation Reasons

The Bonds may be redeemed, at the option of the Issuer in whole, but not in part, at any time, on giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days' notice (a "Tax Redemption Notice") to the Trustee and the Principal Agent in writing and to the Bondholders in accordance with Condition 11 (which notice shall be irrevocable), on the date specified in the Tax Redemption Notice for redemption (the "Tax Redemption Date") at their principal amount as at such date together with interest accrued up to but excluding such date (if any), if the Issuer satisfies the Trustee immediately prior to the giving of such notice that (i) it has or will become obliged to pay Additional Tax Amounts as provided or referred to in Condition 9 as a result of any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of the Cayman Islands, the PRC or, in any such case, any political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax, or any change in the general application or official interpretation of such laws or regulations, which change or amendment becomes effective on or after 27 December 2019, and (ii)

such obligation cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures available to it, provided that no Tax Redemption Notice shall be given earlier than 90 days prior to the earliest date on which the Issuer would be obliged to pay such Additional Tax Amounts were a payment in respect of the Bonds then due. Prior to the publication of any Tax Redemption Notice pursuant to this Condition 8(B), the Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee (a) a certificate signed by two Authorised Signatories (as defined in the Trust Deed) of the Issuer stating that the obligation referred to in (i) above of this Condition 8(B) cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures available to it and (b) an opinion of independent legal or tax advisers of recognised standing to the effect that such change or amendment referred to in (i) above of this Condition 8(B) has occurred (irrespective of whether such amendment or change is then effective), and the Trustee shall be entitled to accept such certificate and opinion as sufficient evidence of the satisfaction of the conditions precedent set out above in (i) and (ii) of this Condition 8(B), in which event the same shall be conclusive and binding on the Bondholders and the Trustee shall be protected and incur no liability to any Bondholder for or in respect of any action taken, omitted or suffered in reliance upon such certificate and opinion.

On the Tax Redemption Date, the Issuer (subject to the following paragraph of this Condition 8(B)) shall redeem the Bonds at their principal amount, together with interest accrued up to but excluding the Tax Redemption Date (if any).

If the Issuer issues a Tax Redemption Notice, each Bondholder will have the right to elect that his Bond(s) shall not be redeemed and that the provisions of Condition 9 shall not apply in respect of any payment to be made in respect of such Bond(s) which falls due after the relevant Tax Redemption Date, whereupon no Additional Tax Amounts shall be payable in respect thereof pursuant to Condition 9 and payment of all amounts shall be made subject to the deduction or withholding of any taxation required to be withheld or deducted. To exercise such a right, the relevant Bondholder must complete, sign and deposit during normal business hours (being between 9:00 a.m. and 3:00 p.m.) at the specified office of any Paying Agent a duly completed and signed notice of election, in the form for the time being current, obtainable during normal business hours (being between 9:00 a.m. and 3:00 p.m.) from the specified office of any Paying Agent (the "Tax Option Exercise Notice") together with the Certificate evidencing the Bonds to be redeemed, on or before the day falling 10 days prior to the Tax Redemption Date. A Tax Option Exercise Notice, once delivered, shall be irrevocable and may not be withdrawn without the Issuer's consent.

## (C) Redemption at the Option of the Issuer

On giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days' notice (such period of not less than 30 nor more than 60 days' of notice shall herein be referred to as the "**Optional Notice Period**") to the Trustee and the Principal Agent in writing and to the Bondholders in accordance with Condition 11 (an "**Optional Redemption Notice**"), the Issuer may:

(i) for so long as the Shares are not suspended from trading on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange or, if applicable, the Alternative Stock Exchange (such trading suspension shall herein be referred to as a "Share Suspension") and there is no outstanding Share Delivery EoD, in each case prior to or during the Optional Notice Period, at any time redeem in whole, but not in part, the Bonds for the time being outstanding at their principal amount together with interest accrued up to but excluding the date specified in the relevant Optional Redemption Notice for redemption (the "Optional Redemption Date"). For the avoidance of doubt, if any Share Suspension and/or Share Delivery EoD occurs prior to or during the Optional Notice Period, (a) any Optional Redemption Notice delivered shall be deemed to be void and of no effect and (b) the Issuer shall not be entitled to redeem the Bonds pursuant to this Condition 8(C)(i), provided however, that if the Share Suspension and Share Delivery EoD is remedied, the Issuer's redemption right

- under this Condition 8(C)(i) shall revive (subject to the Issuer being required to deliver a new Optional Redemption Notice which shall specify a new Optional Notice Period); or
- (ii) at any time redeem in whole, but not in part, the Bonds at their principal amount together with interest accrued up to but excluding the Optional Redemption Date if, prior to the date the relevant Optional Redemption Notice is given, Conversion Rights shall have been exercised and/or purchases (and corresponding cancelations) and/or redemptions effected in respect of 90 per cent. or more in principal amount of the Bonds originally issued (which shall for this purpose include any further bonds issued in accordance with Condition 17 and consolidated and forming a single series therewith).

#### (D) Redemption for Relevant Event

Following the occurrence of a Relevant Event (as defined in Condition 6(H)), the holder of each Bond will have the right at such holder's option, to require the Issuer to redeem all or some only of such holder's Bonds on the Relevant Event Put Date at their principal amount together with interest accrued up to but excluding such date (if any). To exercise such right, the holder of the relevant Bond must deposit during normal business hours (being between 9:00 a.m. and 3:00 p.m.) at the specified office of any Paying Agent a duly completed and signed notice of redemption, in the form for the time being current, obtainable during normal business hours (being between 9:00 a.m. and 3:00 p.m.) from the specified office of any Paying Agent (a "Relevant Event Put Exercise Notice"), together with the Certificate evidencing the Bonds to be redeemed by not later than 60 days following a Relevant Event, or, if later, 60 days following the date upon which notice thereof is given to Bondholders by the Issuer in accordance with Condition 11. The "Relevant Event Put Date" shall be the fourteenth day after the expiry of such period of 60 days as referred to above.

A Relevant Event Put Exercise Notice, once delivered, shall be irrevocable and may not be withdrawn without the Issuer's consent. The Issuer shall redeem the Bonds the subject of the Relevant Event Put Exercise Notice (subject to delivery of the relevant Certificate as aforesaid) on the Relevant Event Put Date.

Neither the Agents nor the Trustee shall be required to monitor or to take any steps to ascertain whether a Relevant Event or any event which could lead to a Relevant Event has occurred or may occur and shall be entitled to assume that no such event has occurred until they have received written notice to the contrary from the Issuer. The Agents and the Trustee will not be responsible or liable to Bondholders for any loss arising from any failure by it to do so.

The Issuer shall give notice to Bondholders in accordance with Condition 11 by not later than 14 days following the first day on which it becomes aware of the occurrence of a Relevant Event, which notice shall specify the procedure for exercise by holders of their rights to require redemption of the Bonds pursuant to this Condition 8(D) and shall give brief details of the Relevant Event.

### (E) Redemption at the Option of Bondholders

The holder of each Bond will have the right at such holder's option, to require the Issuer to redeem all or some only of such holder's Bonds on 27 December 2022 (the "**Optional Put Date**") at their principal amount together with interest accrued up to but excluding such date. To exercise such right, the holder of the relevant Bond must deposit during normal business hours (being between 9:00 a.m. and 3:00 p.m.) at the specified office of any Paying Agent a duly completed and signed exercise notice, in the form for the time being current, obtainable during normal business hours (being between 9:00 a.m. and 3:00 p.m.) from the specified office of any Paying Agent (an "**Optional Put Exercise**")

**Notice**"), together with the Certificate evidencing the Bonds to be redeemed by not more than 60 nor less than 30 days prior to the Optional Put Date.

An Optional Put Exercise Notice, once delivered, shall be irrevocable without the Issuer's consent. The Issuer shall redeem the Bonds the subject of the relevant Optional Put Exercise Notice (subject to delivery of the relevant Certificate as aforesaid) on the Optional Put Date.

## (F) Purchase

The Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries may, subject to applicable laws and regulations, at any time and from time to time purchase Bonds at any price in the open market or otherwise.

#### (G) Cancellation

All Bonds which are redeemed, converted or purchased by the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries, will forthwith be cancelled. Certificates in respect of all Bonds cancelled will be forwarded to or to the order of the Registrar and such Bonds may not be reissued or resold.

#### (H) Redemption Notices

All notices to Bondholders given by or on behalf of the Issuer pursuant to this Condition 8 will be irrevocable and will be given in accordance with Condition 11 specifying: (a) the Conversion Price as at the date of the relevant notice; (b) the last day on which Conversion Rights may be exercised; (c) the Closing Price of the Shares on the latest practicable date prior to the publication of the notice; (d) the applicable redemption amount and accrued interest payable (if any); (e) the date for redemption; (f) the manner in which redemption will be effected; and (g) the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds outstanding as at the latest practicable date prior to the publication of the notice.

If more than one notice of redemption is given (being a notice given by either the Issuer or a Bondholder pursuant to this Condition), the first in time shall prevail. Neither the Trustee nor the Agents shall be responsible for calculating or verifying any calculations of any amounts payable under these Conditions.

#### 9 Taxation

All payments of principal and interest made by or on behalf of the Issuer in respect of the Bonds shall be made free from any restriction or condition and be made without deduction or withholding for or on account of any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, levied collected, withheld or assessed by the Cayman Islands or the PRC or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax, unless such deduction or withholding is required by law.

Where such withholding or deduction is made by the Issuer by or within the PRC up to and including the aggregate rate applicable on 27 December 2019 (the "**Applicable Rate**"), the Issuer will increase the amounts paid by it to the extent required, so that the net amount received by Bondholders equals the amounts which would otherwise have been receivable by them had no such withholding or deduction been required.

If the Issuer is required to make a deduction or withholding (i) by or within the PRC in excess of the Applicable Rate or (ii) by or within the Cayman Islands, the Issuer shall pay such additional amounts ("Additional Tax Amounts") as will result in the receipt by the Bondholders of such amounts as would have been received by them had no such deduction or withholding been required, except that no Additional Tax Amounts shall be payable in respect of any Bond:

(i) Other connection: to a holder (or to a third party on behalf of a holder) who is subject to such taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges in respect of such Bond by reason of his having some

- connection with the Cayman Islands or the PRC otherwise than by the mere holding of the Bond or by the receipt of amounts in respect of the Bond; or
- (ii) Presentation more than 30 days after the relevant date: (in the case of a payment of principal) if the Certificate in respect of such Bond is surrendered more than 30 days after the Relevant Date except to the extent that the holder of it would have been entitled to such additional amounts on surrendering the relevant Certificate for payment on the last day of such period of 30 days.

For the purposes hereof, "**Relevant Date**" means whichever is the later of (a) the date on which such payment first becomes due and (b) if the full amount payable has not been received by the Trustee or the Principal Agent on or prior to such due date, the date on which, the full amount having been so received, notice to that effect shall have been given to the Bondholders and payment made.

References in these Conditions to principal and interest shall be deemed also to refer to any additional amounts which may be payable under this Condition 9 or any undertaking or covenant given in addition thereto or in substitution therefor pursuant to the Trust Deed.

The provisions of this Condition 9 shall not apply in respect of any payments of interest which fall due after the relevant Tax Redemption Date in respect of any Bonds which are the subject of a Bondholder election pursuant to Condition 8(B).

Neither the Trustee nor any Agent shall be responsible for paying any tax, duty, charges, withholding or other payment referred to in this Condition 9 or for determining whether such amounts are payable or the amount thereof, and none of them shall be responsible or liable for any failure by the Issuer, any Bondholder or any third party to pay such tax, duty, charges, withholding or other payment in any jurisdiction or to provide any notice or information to the Trustee or any Agent that would permit, enable or facilitate the payment of any principal, premium (if any), interest or other amount under or in respect of the Bonds without deduction or withholding for or on account of any tax, duty, charge, withholding or other payment imposed by or in any jurisdiction.

# 10 Events of Default

## (A) Events of Default

If any of the following events (each an "Event of Default") occurs, the Trustee at its discretion may, and if so requested in writing by the holders of not less than 25 per cent. in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then outstanding, or if so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution, shall (subject to being indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded by the holders to its satisfaction), give notice to the Issuer that the Bonds are, and they shall immediately become due and repayable at their principal amount together with accrued interest (if any) up to but excluding the date of payment (subject as provided below and without prejudice to the right of Bondholders to exercise the Conversion Right in respect of their Bonds in accordance with Condition 6):

- (i) *Non-Payment*: the Issuer fails to pay the principal of or any interest on any of the Bonds when due; or
- (ii) Failure to deliver Shares: any failure by the Issuer to deliver any Shares as and when the Shares are required to be delivered following Conversion of Bonds; or
- (iii) *Breach of Other Obligations*: the Issuer does not perform or comply with any one or more of its other obligations in the Bonds or the Trust Deed which default is in the opinion of the Trustee incapable of remedy or, if in the opinion of the Trustee capable of remedy, is not in the opinion

- of the Trustee remedied within 14 business days after written notice of such default shall have been given to the Issuer by the Trustee; or
- (iv) Cross-Default: (a) any other present or future indebtedness of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries for or in respect of moneys borrowed or raised becomes (or becomes capable of being declared) due and payable prior to its stated maturity by reason of any actual or potential default, event of default or the like (howsoever described), (b) any such indebtedness is not paid when due or, as the case may be, within any applicable grace period, or (c) the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries fails to pay when due any amount payable by it under any present or future guarantee for, or indemnity in respect of, any moneys borrowed or raised, provided that the aggregate amount of the relevant indebtedness, guarantees and indemnities in respect of which one or more of the events mentioned above in this Condition 10(A)(iv) have occurred equals or exceeds U.S.\$7,500,000 or its equivalent in any other currency on the day on which such indebtedness becomes due and payable or is not paid or any such amount becomes due and payable or is not paid under any such guarantee or indemnity; or
- (v) Enforcement Proceedings: a distress, attachment, execution or other legal process is levied, enforced or sued out on or against all or any material part of the property, assets or revenues of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries and is not discharged or stayed within 21 business days, other than a distress, attachment, execution or other legal process in respect of any litigation proceedings contemplated in the Issuer's circular dated 29 June 2018 published on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange in relation to the acquisition of LEI Lie Ying Limited; or
- (vi) Security Enforced: any mortgage, charge, pledge, lien or other encumbrance, present or future, created or assumed by the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries becomes enforceable and any step is taken to enforce it (including the taking of possession or the appointment of a receiver, manager or other similar person) against any substantial part of the property, assets or revenues of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries and is not discharged or stayed within 21 business days; or
- (vii) Winding-up: an order is made or an effective resolution passed for the winding-up or dissolution, judicial management or administration of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries (except for a members' voluntary solvent winding-up of a Subsidiary) and such order is not discharged or stayed within 14 business days, or the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries ceases or threatens to cease to carry on all or substantially all of its business or operations, except for the purpose of and followed by a reconstruction, amalgamation, reorganisation, merger or consolidation (a) on terms approved by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Bondholders, or (b) in the case of a Subsidiary, whereby the undertaking and assets of such Subsidiary are transferred to or otherwise vested in the Issuer or another of its Subsidiaries; or
- (viii) *Insolvency*: the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries is (or is, or could be, deemed by law or a court to be) insolvent or bankrupt or unable to pay its debts, stops, suspends or threatens to stop or suspend payment of all or a substantial part of its debts, proposes or makes any agreement for the deferral, rescheduling or other readjustment of all of its debts, proposes or makes a general assignment or an arrangement or composition with or for the benefit of the relevant creditors in respect of any substantial part of such debts or a moratorium is agreed or declared in respect of or affecting all or any substantial part of (or of a particular type of) the debts of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries or the whole or any substantial part of the assets and turnover of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries is appointed and such appointment is not discharged or stayed within 14 business days; or

- (ix) Nationalisation: (a) any step is taken by any competent governmental authority with a view to the seizure, compulsory acquisition, expropriation or nationalisation of all or a substantial part of the assets of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries or (b) the Issuer, or any of its Subsidiaries is prevented by any competent governmental authority from exercising normal control over all or, in the opinion of the Trustee, a substantial part of its property, assets and turnover; or
- (x) Authorisation and Consents: any action, condition or thing (including the obtaining or effecting of any necessary consent, approval, authorisation, exemption, filing, licence, order, recording or registration) at any time required to be taken, fulfilled or done in order (a) to enable the Issuer lawfully to enter into, exercise its rights and perform and comply with its obligations under the Bonds and the Trust Deed, (b) to ensure that those obligations are legally binding and enforceable, and (c) to make the Bonds and the Trust Deed admissible in evidence in the courts of Hong Kong is not taken, fulfilled or done; or
- (xi) *Illegality*: it is or will become unlawful for the Issuer to perform or comply with any one or more of its obligations under any of the Bonds or the Trust Deed; or
- (xii) Analogous Events: any event occurs which under the laws of any relevant jurisdiction has an analogous effect to any of the events referred to in any of Conditions 10(A)(v) to 10(A)(viii) (both inclusive).

#### (B) Default Cure Amount

If the Bonds have become due and payable pursuant to Condition 10(A), notwithstanding Condition 6(A) and receipt of any payment after the acceleration of the Bonds and provided that no Conversion Notice has been delivered pursuant to Condition 6(A)(ii), a Bondholder may exercise its Conversion Right in accordance with this Condition 10(B) by depositing a Conversion Notice (unless with respect to Condition 10(A)(iii) a Conversion Notice has already been deposited in which case further deposit will not be required) with a Conversion Agent during the period from and including the date of an acceleration notice with respect to an event specified in Condition 10(A) (at which time the Issuer will notify the Bondholders of the number of Shares per Bond to be delivered upon conversion, assuming all the then outstanding Bonds are converted) to and including the 30th Hong Kong business day after such payment.

If the Conversion Right attached to any Bond is exercised pursuant to this Condition 10(B), or if an Event of Default has occurred pursuant to Condition 10(A)(ii), the Issuer shall at the option of the converting Bondholder (notice of exercise of such option to be delivered to the Conversion Agent in writing) in lieu of delivery of the relevant Shares determine and pay to such Bondholder an amount in Hong Kong dollars (the "**Default Cure Amount**"), equal to the product of (x) (i) the number of Shares that are required to be delivered by the Issuer to satisfy the Conversion Right in relation to such converting Bondholder minus (ii) the number of Shares that are actually delivered by the Issuer pursuant to such Bondholders' Conversion Notice and (y) the Current Market Price of the Shares on the Conversion Date; provided that if such Bondholder has received any payment under the Bonds pursuant to this Condition 10(B), the amount of such payment shall be deducted from the Default Cure Amount. Payment of the Default Cure Amount shall be paid to the converting Bondholder on the third Payment Business Day following the date on which notice of exercise of the option to receive the Default Cure Amount is delivered.

#### 11 Notices

Notices to the holders of Bonds shall be mailed to them at their respective addresses in the Register and deemed to have been given on the fourth weekday (being a day other than a Saturday or a Sunday) after the date of mailing, unless such notices are duly published in a manner as provided below. The Issuer shall ensure that notices are duly published in a manner that complies with the rules and regulations of any stock exchange or other relevant authority on which the Bonds are for the time being listed. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the date of such publication or, if published more than once, on the first date on which publication is made.

So long as the Bonds are represented by the Global Certificate and the Global Certificate is held on behalf of Euroclear or Clearstream or the Alternative Clearing System (as defined in the form of the Global Certificate), notices to Bondholders shall be given by delivery of the relevant notice to Euroclear or Clearstream or the Alternative Clearing System, for communication by it to entitled accountholders in substitution for notification as required by the Conditions, and such notice shall be deemed to be received by the Bondholders on the date of delivery of such notice to Euroclear or Clearstream or the Alternative Clearing System.

## 12 Prescription

Claims in respect of amounts due in respect of the Bonds will become prescribed and become void unless made within 10 years (in the case of principal) and five years (in the case of interest) from the appropriate Relevant Date.

# 13 Replacement of Certificates

If any Certificate is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may be replaced at the specified office of the Registrar or any Transfer Agent, subject to all applicable laws and stock exchange requirements, upon payment by the claimant of the expenses incurred in connection with such replacement and on such terms as to evidence and indemnity and/or security as the Issuer, the Registrar or such Transfer Agent may require. Mutilated or defaced Certificates must be surrendered before replacements will be issued.

# 14 Meetings of Bondholders, Modification and Waiver

### (A) Meetings of Bondholders

The Trust Deed contains provisions for convening meetings of Bondholders to consider matters affecting their interests, including without limitation the sanctioning by Extraordinary Resolution of a modification of any of these Conditions or any provisions of the Trust Deed or the Agency Agreement. Such a meeting may be convened by the Issuer or the Trustee and shall be convened by the Trustee if requested in writing to do so by Bondholders holding not less than 10 per cent. in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds for the time being outstanding. The quorum for any meeting convened to consider an Extraordinary Resolution will be two or more persons holding or representing more than 50 per cent. in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds for the time being outstanding or, at any adjourned such meeting, two or more persons being or representing Bondholders whatever the principal amount of the Bonds held or represented, unless the business of such meeting includes consideration of proposals, inter alia, (a) to modify the maturity of the Bonds, the Optional Redemption Date or the dates on which interest is payable in respect of the Bonds, (b) to modify the circumstances in which the Issuer or Bondholders are entitled to redeem the Bonds pursuant to Conditions 8(B), 8(C), 8(D) or 8(E), (c) to reduce or cancel the principal amount, interest or Equivalent Amount payable in respect of the Bonds or changing the method of calculation of interest, (d) to change the currency of denomination or payment of the Bonds, (e) to modify (except by a unilateral and unconditional reduction in the

Conversion Price) or cancel (i) the Conversion Rights or (ii) the provisions relating to the Mandatory Conversion or (iii) the provisions relating to the Further Mandatory Conversion, or (f) to modify the provisions concerning the quorum required at any meeting of the Bondholders or the majority required to pass an Extraordinary Resolution, in which case the necessary quorum will be two or more persons holding or representing not less than 66 per cent., or at any adjourned meeting not less than 33 per cent., in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds for the time being outstanding. Any Extraordinary Resolution duly passed shall be binding on all Bondholders (whether or not they were present at the meeting at which such resolution was passed).

The Trust Deed provides that a written resolution signed by or on behalf of the holders of not less than 90 per cent. of the aggregate principal amount of Bonds outstanding shall be as valid and effective as a duly passed Extraordinary Resolution of the Bondholders. Such a resolution in writing may be contained in one document or several documents in the same form, each signed by or on behalf of one or more Bondholders.

### (B) Modification and Waiver

The Trustee may (but shall not be obliged to) agree, without the consent of the Bondholders, to (a) any modification of any of the provisions of the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement or the Bonds (together the "Documentation") which in the Trustee's opinion is of a formal, minor or technical nature, or is made to correct a manifest error, or to comply with mandatory provisions of law, and (b) any other modification to the Documentation (except as mentioned in the Trust Deed), and any waiver or authorisation of any breach or proposed breach, of any of the provisions of the Documentation which is, in the opinion of the Trustee, not materially prejudicial to the interests of the Bondholders. The Trustee may, without the consent of the Bondholders, determine any Event of Default or a Potential Event of Default (as defined in the Trust Deed) should not be treated as such, provided that in the opinion of the Trustee, the interests of Bondholders will not be materially prejudiced thereby. Any such modification, authorisation or waiver shall be binding on the Bondholders and, unless the Trustee otherwise agrees, any such modification and any authorisation or waiver which is in writing shall be notified by the Issuer to the Bondholders promptly in accordance with Condition 11.

### (C) Entitlement of the Trustee

In connection with the exercise of its functions, rights, powers and discretions (including but not limited to those referred to in this Condition 14) the Trustee shall have regard to the interests of the Bondholders as a class and shall not have regard to the consequences of such exercise for individual Bondholders and the Trustee shall not be entitled to require, nor shall any Bondholder be entitled to claim, from the Issuer or the Trustee any indemnification or payment in respect of any tax consequences of any such exercise upon individual Bondholders.

In the event of the passing of an Extraordinary Resolution in accordance with Condition 14(A), a modification, waiver or authorisation in accordance with Condition 14(B), the Issuer will procure that the Bondholders be notified in accordance with Condition 11.

### 15 Enforcement

The Trustee may, at any time, at its discretion and without further notice, take such steps and/or actions and/or institute such proceedings against the Issuer as it may think fit to enforce the terms of the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement and the Bonds, but it needs not take any such steps and/or actions and/or institute any such proceedings unless (a) it shall have been so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution or shall have been so requested in writing by the holders of not less than 25 per cent. in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds

2199723444 36

then outstanding and (b) it shall have been indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded to its satisfaction. No Bondholder may proceed directly against the Issuer unless the Trustee, having become bound so to proceed, fails to do so within a reasonable period and such failure is continuing.

### 16 Indemnification of the Trustee

The Trust Deed contains provisions for the indemnification of the Trustee and for its relief from responsibility including from taking proceedings unless indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded to its satisfaction. The Trustee is entitled to enter into business transactions with the Issuer and any entity related to the Issuer without accounting for any profit.

The Trustee may rely without liability to Bondholders on any report, confirmation or certificate or any advice of any accountants, lawyers, financial advisers, financial institution or any other expert, whether or not addressed to it and whether their liability in relation thereto is limited (by its terms or by any engagement letter relating thereto entered into by the Trustee or any other person or in any other manner) by reference to a monetary cap, methodology or otherwise. The Trustee may accept and shall be entitled to rely on any such report, confirmation or certificate or advice, in which case such report, confirmation or certificate or advice shall be binding on the Issuer, the Trustee and the Bondholders.

Whenever the Trustee is required or entitled by the terms of the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement or these Conditions to exercise any discretion or power, take or refrain from taking any action, make any decision or give any direction, the Trustee is entitled, prior to exercising any such discretion or power, taking or refraining from any such action, making any such decision or giving any such direction, to seek directions from the Bondholders by way of an Extraordinary Resolution, and the Trustee shall not be responsible for any loss or liability incurred by the Issuer, the Bondholders or any other person as a result of any delay in it exercising such discretion or power, taking or refraining from such action, making such decision or giving such direction as a result of seeking such direction from the Bondholders or in the event that no direction is given to the Trustee by the Bondholders.

None of the Trustee or any of the Agents shall be responsible for the performance by the Issuer and/or any other person appointed by the Issuer in relation to the Bonds of the duties and obligations on their part expressed in respect of the same and, unless it has written notice from the Issuer to the contrary, the Trustee and each Agent shall be entitled to assume that the same are being duly performed.

None of the Trustee or any Agent shall be liable to any Bondholder, the Issuer or any other person for any action taken by the Trustee or such Agent in accordance with the instruction, direction or request of the Bondholders. The Trustee shall be entitled to rely on any instruction, direction, request or resolution of Bondholders given by Bondholders holding the requisite principal amount of Bonds outstanding or passed at a meeting of Bondholders convened and held in accordance with the Trust Deed.

Neither the Trustee nor any of the Agents shall have any obligation to monitor compliance with the provisions of the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement or these Conditions or to monitor whether an Event of Default or a Potential Event of Default or a Relevant Event has occurred, and shall not be responsible or liable to the Issuer, the Bondholders or any other person for not doing so.

Each Bondholder shall be solely responsible for making and continuing to make its own independent appraisal and investigation into the financial condition, creditworthiness, condition, affairs, status and nature of the Issuer and the Trustee shall not at any time have any responsibility for the same and each Bondholder shall not rely on the Trustee in respect thereof.

2199723444 37

### 17 Further Issues

The Issuer may from time to time without the consent of the Bondholders create and issue further securities having the same terms and conditions as the Bonds in all respects (or in all respects except for the issue date, the first payment of interest on them and the timing for the making of the NDRC Post-issue Filing) and so that such further issue shall be consolidated and form a single series with the outstanding Bonds. References in these Conditions to the Bonds include (unless the context requires otherwise) any other securities issued pursuant to this Condition 17 and forming a single series with the Bonds. Any further securities forming a single series with the outstanding Bonds constituted by the Trust Deed or any deed supplemental to it shall, and any other securities may (with the consent of the Trustee), be constituted by a deed supplemental to the Trust Deed.

### 18 Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999

No person shall have any right to enforce any term or condition of the Bonds under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999.

### 19 Governing Law and Submission to Jurisdiction

### (A) Governing Law

The Bonds, the Trust Deed and the Agency Agreement and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with them are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, English law.

### (B) Jurisdiction

The courts of Hong Kong are to have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any disputes which may arise out of or in connection with the Bonds and accordingly any legal action or proceedings arising out of or in connection with the Bonds ("**Proceedings**") may be brought in such courts. Pursuant to the Trust Deed, the Issuer has irrevocably submitted to the jurisdiction of such courts.

### (C) Service of Process

Pursuant to the Trust Deed, the Issuer has agreed to receive service of process in any Proceedings in Hong Kong in relation to the Bonds at its business address in Hong Kong, currently at 31/F, Tower Two, Times Square, 1 Matheson Street, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

### (D) Waiver of Immunity

The Issuer has waived any right to claim sovereign or other immunity from jurisdiction or execution and any similar defence, and has irrevocably consented to the giving of any relief or the issue of any process, including, without limitation, the making, enforcement or execution against any property whatsoever (irrespective of its use or intended use) of any order or judgment made or given in connection with any Proceedings.

2199723444 38

This Second Supplemental Trust Deed is delivered on the date stated at the beginning.

EXECUTED as a DEED by CHINA YUHUA CORPORATION LIMITED, AC	EDUCATION ING BY:
	Duly Authorised Signatory
	Name:
	Title:
in the presence of:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

Executed as a Deed by
THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON,
LONDON BRANCH

Ву:

# Exhibit B

# Form of 2<sup>nd</sup> Supplemental Agency Agreement

# Linklaters

# SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL AGENCY AGREEMENT

relating to HK\$2,088,000,000 0.90 per cent. Convertible Bonds due 2024 convertible into ordinary shares of China YuHua Education Corporation Limited

Dated [•] 2025

### CHINA YUHUA EDUCATION CORPORATION LIMITED

as Issuer

and

# THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON, LONDON BRANCH

as Trustee

and

## THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON, LONDON BRANCH

as Principal Agent

and

# THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON SA/NV, LUXEMBOURG BRANCH

as Registrar and Transfer Agent

### **Table of Contents**

Cont	ntents		
1	Interpretation	1	
2	Amendments	2	
3	Further Assurance	5	
4	Stamp Duties and Taxes	5	
5	Counterparts	5	
6	Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999	5	
7	Governing Law and Jurisdiction	5	
SCHI	FDLILE 1 Form of Conversion Notice	7	

This Supplemental Agency Agreement is made on [●] 2025 between:

- (1) CHINA YUHUA EDUCATION CORPORATION LIMITED, incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability (the "Issuer");
- (2) THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON, LONDON BRANCH, a banking corporation organised and existing under the laws of the State of New York with limited liability and operating through its branch in London at 160 Queen Victoria Street, London EC4V 4LA, United Kingdom as principal paying agent and principal conversion agent (collectively in those capacities, the "Principal Agent");
- (3) THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON SA/NV, LUXEMBOURG BRANCH, as registrar and as transfer agent (the "Registrar" and the "Transfer Agent"); and
- (4) THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON, LONDON BRANCH, a banking corporation organised and existing under the laws of the State of New York with limited liability and operating through its branch in London at 160 Queen Victoria Street, London EC4V 4LA, United Kingdom, as the trustee (the "Trustee").

### Whereas:

- (A) The Issuer issued HK\$2,088,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 0.90 per cent. convertible bonds due 2024 (the "Bonds") on 27 December 2019 (the "Issue Date"). On 18 January 2023, the holders of the Bonds assented and consented to certain amendments and waivers relating to the Bonds and authorised, directed, requested and empowered the Trustee to assent and consent to such amendments and waivers and for the Issuer and the Trustee to enter into, inter alia, a supplemental agency agreement dated 19 January 2023 in relation to the Bonds (the "First Supplemental Agency Agreement") to amend the paying, conversion and transfer agency agreement dated 27 December 2019 between the parties hereto (the "Original Agency Agreement" and as amended and supplemented by the First Supplemental Agency Agreement, being the "Subsisting Agency Agreement").
- (B) By an extraordinary resolution dated [●] 2025 (the "Extraordinary Resolution"), the holders of the Bonds assented and consented to certain amendments and waivers relating to the Bonds and authorised, directed, requested and empowered the Trustee to assent and consent to such amendments and waivers and for the Issuer and the Trustee to enter into, inter alia, this supplemental agency agreement (this "Second Supplemental Agency Agreement").
- (C) The parties hereto wish to amend the Subsisting Agency Agreement as provided herein, and this Second Supplemental Agency Agreement will amend and supplement the Subsisting Agency Agreement with effect from the date hereof.
- (D) The Bonds are constituted by the trust deed dated 27 December 2019 between the Issuer and the Trustee (as amended and supplemented by the supplemental trust deed dated 19 January 2023 and the second supplemental trust deed dated [●] 2025 and as further amended and/or supplemented from time to time, the "Trust Deed").

It is agreed as follows:

- 1 Interpretation
- 1.1 Definitions

Unless otherwise defined in this Second Supplemental Agency Agreement (including the recitals hereto), terms defined or construed in the Subsisting Agency Agreement and the Trust Deed shall have the same meanings or construction in this Second Supplemental Agency Agreement.

In addition, all references in the Subsisting Agency Agreement to "this Agreement", the "Agency Agreement", "this Supplemental Agency Agreement", the "Supplemental Agency Agreement" and the "Paying, Conversion and Transfer Agency Agreement" shall be deemed to refer to the Subsisting Agency Agreement as supplemented by this Second Supplemental Agency Agreement and all references to the "Trust Deed" in the Subsisting Agency Agreement shall be deemed to refer to the Trust Deed as defined in this Second Supplemental Agency Agreement, and all references in the Subsisting Agency Agreement to "Global Certificate" shall be deemed to refer to the global certificate dated [•] 2025 in respect of the outstanding Bonds duly executed and delivered by the Issuer in accordance with the Agency Agreement.

### 1.2 Construction

Clauses 1.2 (Construction of Certain References), 1.3 (Headings), 1.4 (Exhibits), 1.5 (Clauses), Clause 1.7 (Amended Documents) and Clause 1.8 (Statutes) of the Subsisting Agency Agreement shall have effect, mutatis mutandis, as if set out in full in this Second Supplemental Agency Agreement.

### 1.3 Effect of this Second Supplemental Agency Agreement

This Second Supplemental Agency Agreement is supplemental to the Subsisting Agency Agreement and this Second Supplemental Agency Agreement and the Subsisting Agency Agreement (as amended pursuant to this Second Supplemental Agency Agreement) shall be read and construed together as one agreement, provided always that in the event of any inconsistency between the Subsisting Agency Agreement and this Second Supplemental Agency Agreement, the provisions of this Second Supplemental Agency Agreement shall override such inconsistent provisions of the Subsisting Agency Agreement. Each of the amendments contemplated by this Second Supplemental Agency Agreement shall take effect from the date of this Second Supplemental Agency Agreement. Save for the amendments to the Subsisting Agency Agreement confirmed by this Second Supplemental Agency Agreement, all terms and conditions of the Subsisting Agency Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.

### 2 Amendments

On and from the date of this Second Supplemental Agency Agreement, the Subsisting Agency Agreement shall be amended as follows:

2.1 The following additional paragraph shall be inserted at the end of Clause 6.1 of the Subsisting Agency Agreement:

"In respect of the Further Mandatory Conversion, as a precondition to delivery of Shares pursuant to the Further Mandatory Conversion of the Bonds, Bondholders are required to deliver such Bonds (or the Certificate(s) representing them) together with the Conversion Notice duly completed and signed to the specified office of the Conversion Agent by not later than three Stock Exchange Business Days prior to the Maturity Date. Each Conversion Agent shall from 9:00 a.m. to 3:00 p.m. on any business day (being a day other than a Saturday or Sunday on which commercial banks are open for business in the city in which

the Conversion Agent's specified office is located) during the period when the Further Mandatory Conversion is or is capable of being or becoming exercisable, at the specified office of the relevant Conversion Agent accept deposit on behalf of the Issuer of (a) any Definitive Certificates in respect of Bonds which are subject to the Further Mandatory Conversion together with a Conversion Notice duly completed or (b) in the case of Bonds represented by the Global Certificate, a Conversion Notice duly completed."

**2.2** Clause 6.2 of the Subsisting Agency Agreement shall be amended with the following words in underlined added:

"Global Certificate: Conversion Rights attaching to the Bonds represented by the Global Certificate or any Mandatory Conversion of Bonds represented by the Global Certificate or the Further Mandatory Conversion of Bonds represented by the Global Certificate shall be exercised in the manner set out in Clause 6.1, provided that:

- 6.2.1 the Global Certificate need not be deposited with the Conversion Agent together with the relevant Conversion Notice;
- 6.2.2 the Conversion Notice for Bonds represented by the Global Certificate may be completed and deposited by or on behalf of an account holder of Clearstream or Euroclear or an Alternative Clearing System (in which the Bond to be converted is held at such time) which has an interest in such Bonds;
- 6.2.3 Bonds which have been converted will be cancelled forthwith and the Global Certificate shall be annotated accordingly without cancellation of the Global Certificate; and
- 6.2.4 the holding of an interest in Bonds by an account holder of Clearstream or Euroclear or an Alternative Clearing System in which the Bonds are held at such time in respect of which the Conversion Rights are exercised or which are subject to a Mandatory Conversion or the Further Mandatory Conversion will be confirmed by the relevant clearing system with the Conversion Agent."
- **2.3** Clause 6.5 of the Subsisting Agency Agreement shall be amended with the following words in underlined added:

### "Delivery:

6.5.1 Upon receipt of the relevant Agent Conversion Notification, the Issuer will as soon as practicable send notification (substantially in the form specified in Exhibit C hereto) by facsimile to the Conversion Agent which has initially received the relevant Conversion Notice (and will send a copy to the Principal Agent (if it is not the Conversion Agent which received the relevant Conversion Notice) and the Registrar), in the case of a Bond in respect of which the Conversion Right has been exercised and in respect of which a Conversion Notice was deposited or in the case of a Bond which is the subject of a Mandatory Conversion and in respect of which a Conversion Notice was deposited or in the case of a Bond which is the subject of the Further Mandatory Conversion and in respect of which a Conversion Notice was deposited, confirming that (i) delivery, despatch or payment in accordance with such Conversion Notice (or otherwise in accordance with the converting Bondholder's instructions) of the certificate or certificates for the relevant Shares and/or cash required to be delivered upon conversion has been or will be made; and (ii) that the converting Bondholder or other person nominated in the Conversion Notice has been registered as the owner of the relevant Shares issued on conversion.

- 6.5.2 None of the Agents shall have any responsibility for the Issuer's failure to effect any delivery in accordance with this Clause 6.5."
- **2.4** Clause 6.7 of the Subsisting Agency Agreement shall be amended with the following words in underlined added:

"Notice of Adjustment: If, while any Conversion Right or Mandatory Conversion or the Further Mandatory Conversion is or is capable of being or becoming exercisable, there shall be any adjustment to the Conversion Price, the Issuer shall (i) as soon as reasonably practicable notify the Trustee and the Principal Agent of particulars of the event giving rise to the adjustment, the Conversion Price before and after the adjustment, the date on which the adjustment takes effect and such other information in connection therewith as the Trustee may require, and (ii) promptly after the adjustment takes effect, give notice to the Bondholders stating that the Conversion Price has been adjusted and setting out the Conversion Price in effect before the adjustment, the adjusted Conversion Price and the effective date of the adjustment. However, a notice pursuant to clause 6 of the Trust Deed (other than clause 6.3 of the Trust Deed) correctly stating any information required to be given pursuant to this Clause 6.7 shall, as to such information, satisfy the requirements of this Clause 6.7. The Agents shall be under no duty or responsibility to determine, monitor or verify whether an event requiring adjustment of the Conversion Price has occurred or any circumstances exist which may require any adjustment of the Conversion Price, or to determine, calculate or verify the Conversion Price and/or any adjustments to it. The Agents shall be entitled to rely without further investigation or liability on all calculations, reports, opinions and determinations reached or made by the Issuer and/or the Independent Investment Bank and will not be responsible to Bondholders or to the Issuer or any other person for any loss arising from any such failure or reliance or for any delay of the Issuer or the Independent Investment Bank in making any calculation or determination or for the Issuer or the Independent Investment Bank making any erroneous calculation or determination in connection with the Conversion Price or any adjustment thereto."

**2.5** Clause 6.10 of the Subsisting Agency Agreement shall be amended with the following words in underlined added:

"Fees and Expenses of Conversion: The Issuer shall pay all taxes and/or capital, stamp, issue and registration and transfer or similar taxes and duties, payable in the Cayman Islands and Hong Kong in respect of the allotment and issue of Shares and listing of such Shares (other than those taxes and/or capital, stamp, issue and registration and transfer taxes and duties paid or payable on conversion by the converting Bondholder as expressly provided in Condition 6(B)(ii)) and all expenses arising on the issue of the Shares on conversion of the Bonds, including all properly incurred expenses and charges of the Conversion Agents in connection thereon, save that in respect of any Mandatory Conversion or the Further Mandatory Conversion, the Issuer shall pay all taxes and/or capital, stamp, issue and registration and transfer or similar taxes and duties payable in connection with the Mandatory Conversion and the Further Mandatory Conversion, including but not limited to the allotment and issue of Shares and listing of such Shares, and all expenses arising on the issue of the Shares on conversion of the Bonds, including all properly incurred expenses and charges of the Conversion Agents in connection thereon."

the Form of Conversion Notice contained in Exhibit A to the Subsisting Agency Agreement shall be deleted in its entirety and replaced by Schedule 1 hereto.

### 3 Further Assurance

The Issuer shall, at its own cost, take such action and execute such documentation as the Trustee or any Agent shall request in order to effect the amendments under the Subsisting Agency Agreement and the Bonds in the manner contemplated by this Second Supplemental Agency Agreement.

### 4 Stamp Duties and Taxes

The Issuer will pay or reimburse all stamp, registration and other documentary taxes, duties, assessments or government charges (including any interest and penalties thereon or in connection therewith), if any, to which this Second Supplemental Agency Agreement may be subject or payable in connection with the execution, delivery, issue, payment, performance and/or enforcement of this Second Supplemental Agency Agreement by the Agents. No Agent (a) shall be under any obligation to determine whether the Issuer is liable to pay such taxes, duties, fees assessments or government charges; (b) shall be liable to pay any such taxes, duties, assessments or government charges; (c) shall be concerned with, or obliged or required to enquire into, the sufficiency of any amount paid by the Issuer or any Bondholder for this purpose; and (d) shall be liable for any losses as a result of any non-payment of the same by the Issuer.

### 5 Counterparts

This Second Supplemental Agency Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and this has the same effect as if the signatures on the counterparts were on a same copy of this Second Supplemental Agency Agreement.

### 6 Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999

A person who is not a party to this Second Supplemental Agency Agreement has no rights under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 to enforce any term of this Second Supplemental Agency Agreement except and to the extent (if any) that this Second Supplemental Agency Agreement expressly provides for such Act to apply to any of its terms. The parties to this Second Supplemental Agency Agreement shall have the right to amend, vary or rescind any provision of this Second Supplemental Agency Agreement without the consent of any such third party.

### 7 Governing Law and Jurisdiction

- 7.1 This Second Supplemental Agency Agreement and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with it shall be governed by and construed in accordance with English law.
- 7.2 The courts of Hong Kong are to have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any disputes which may arise out of or in connection with this Second Supplemental Agency Agreement and accordingly any legal action or proceedings arising out of or in connection with this Second Supplemental Agency Agreement ("Proceedings") may be brought in such courts. The Issuer irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of such courts and waives any objections to Proceedings in such courts on the ground of venue or on the ground that the Proceedings have been brought in an inconvenient forum.

- 7.3 The Issuer irrevocably agrees to receive service of process in any Proceedings in Hong Kong at the Issuer's business address in Hong Kong, currently at 31/F, Tower Two, Times Square, 1 Matheson Street, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong. Such service shall be deemed completed on delivery to such address (whether or not it is forwarded to and received by the Issuer). If for any reason the Issuer no longer has an address in Hong Kong, the Issuer irrevocably agrees to forthwith appoint a substitute process agent in Hong Kong and deliver to the Trustee a copy of the agent's acceptance of that appointment within 30 days of such cessation. Nothing shall affect the right to serve process in any other manner permitted by law.
- 7.4 The Issuer hereby waives any right to claim sovereign or other immunity from jurisdiction or execution and any similar defence, and irrevocably consents to the giving of any relief or the issue of any process, including, without limitation, the making, enforcement or execution against any property whatsoever (irrespective of its use or intended use) of any order or judgment made or given in connection with any Proceedings.

# SCHEDULE 1

### **Form of Conversion Notice**

HK\$2,088,000,000 0.90 per cent. Convertible Bonds due 2024 convertible into ordinary shares of China YuHua Education Corporation Limited

(Please	e read the notes overleaf before completing thi	s Notice.)
Name	5	Date:
Addre	9SS:	Tel No:
*Euro	clear/Clearstream Account No	Fax No:
(*delete	e as appropriate)	
Signatu	ure <sup>1</sup> :	
То:	The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branc [●]	h as Conversion Agent; Fax: +[●]; Attention:
cc:	[●]; [●]; Attention: [●]	
cc:	China YuHua Education Corporation Limited	(the " <b>Issuer</b> "); Email: [●]
Bonds/such B Conver (the "S Bonds. to then betwee and Tru agent ( 2023 a	cheing the holders of the Bonds specified below hereby irrevocably request that in connection sonds are converted/hereby irrevocably request rision of the Bonds, such Bonds are converted thares") with a par value of HK\$0.00001 in acceptance. Terms used in this Conversion Notice and not make the Paying, Conversion and Transfer Alen, among others, the Issuer, The Bank of New trustee and the Bank of New York Mellon SA/NV (as amended and supplemented by the supplemental agency agreem supplemented from time to time).	with the Mandatory Conversion of the Bonds, that in connection with the Further Mandatory of into fully-paid ordinary shares of the Issuer cordance with the terms and conditions of the ot otherwise defined have the meanings given gency Agreement dated 27 December 2019 York Mellon, London Branch as Principal Agent, Luxembourg Branch as registrar and transfer emental agency agreement dated 19 January
1	Total principal amount, number and identifying to the [Mandatory Conversion] / [Further Man	numbers of Bonds to be converted or subject datory Conversion]:
	Total principal amount:	
	Total number of Bonds:	
	Identifying numbers of Bonds (if relevant)*:	

Where the Bonds to be converted are evidenced by the Global Certificate, the Conversion Notice need not be signed. In such a case, delivery of the Conversion Notice will constitute confirmation by the beneficial owner of the Bonds to be converted that the information in the Conversion Notice is true and accurate on delivery.

		version pursuant or in an Event of D	to Condition 6(A)(iii) efault):			
			Certificates deposited ersion (if relevant)*: .	•		erted or subject
			Certificates deposited ry Conversion (if rele	•		
	N.B. separ		identifying numbers	s of Bonds and	Certificates ca	n be attached
	* Not	required for Bond	ls represented by a G	lobal Certificate		
2	Name(s) and address(es) of person(s) in whose name(s) the Shares required to be on conversion are to be registered:				to be delivered	
	Name	):				
	Addre	ess:				
	Telep	hone Number:				
	Fax N	lumber:				
3	have registe Duties Excha	paid directly to t ration and transfe s payable in Cay ange, by the Issu	at at the time of execute relevant authorities taxes and duties ("man Islands and, if er, in respect of the at Stock Exchange on	es any taxes an <b>Duties</b> ") arising relevant, in the allotment and iss	d/or capital, sta on conversion ( place of the Alt	imp, issue and other than any ternative Stock
	**Not Conve	•	ls that are subject to N	Mandatory Conve	ersion or the Fur	ther Mandatory
3.1	I/We o	certify that the am	ount of Duties (if any	):		
	3.1.1	• .	exercise of the Converted and	•	-	
		Amount:				
		Country in which	ch Conversion Rights	are exercised:		
	3.1.2		us in any jurisdiction o er of a person other th			
		Amount:				
		Country in which	h Duties are payable	:		
			that the above paymes representation. **	ents have been n	nade by us and	we understand

- \*\*Not required for Bonds that are subject to Mandatory Conversion or the Further Mandatory Conversion
- 4 I/We hereby request that [I/We be registered as holder(s) of the relevant number of Shares in the register of shareholders of the Issuer] [the Shares be delivered to, and registered in the name of the Depositary for credit to the securities account number specified below] or the certificates for the Shares (together with any cash, including any HK dollar cheque in respect of payment of any amount pursuant to Condition 6(A)(i)) required to be delivered upon conversion, be despatched by ordinary post (at my/our risk and expense) to the person whose name, contact person, telephone numbers, fax number and address is given below and in the manner specified below:

.....

	Contact Person:	
	Address:	
	Account Number:	
	Account Name:	
	Telephone Number:	
	Fax Number:	
	Manner of despatch:	
	The Certificate in respe Notice.*	ct of the Bonds converted hereby accompanies this Conversion
	Name:	
	Address:	
	* Not required for the Glo	obal Certificate.
5	The Issuer has notified to be closed on the following	he Conversion Agents that the Issuer's register of shareholders willing dates:
N.B.		

Name:

- This Conversion Notice will be void unless the introductory details and Sections 1 to 4 are (i) completed, save that in respect of a Mandatory Conversion or the Further Mandatory Conversion, Section 3 is not required to be completed and the Conversion Notice shall not be void if such section is not completed.
- (ii) Your attention is drawn to Condition 6(B) of the terms and conditions of the Bonds with respect to the conditions precedent which must be fulfilled before the Bonds specified above will be treated as effectively eligible for conversion.

- (iii) Despatch of share certificates or other securities or property will be made at the risk and expense of the converting Bondholder and the Bondholder will be required to submit any necessary documents required in order to effect despatch in the manner specified.
- (iv) If a retroactive adjustment contemplated by the terms and conditions of the Bonds is required in respect of a conversion of Bonds, Shares deliverable pursuant to such retroactive adjustment (together with any other securities, property or cash) will be delivered or despatched in the same manner as the Shares or cash previously issued pursuant to the relevant Conversion Notice.

### For Agent's use only:

- 1 (A) Bond conversion identification reference: China YuHua Education Corporation Limited HK\$2,088,000,000 0.90 per cent. Convertible Bonds due 2024
  - (B) Date on which the Conversion Notice is deposited with (and, if applicable, Certificate is surrendered to) the Agent: ..........
  - (C) Conversion Date: .....
- **2** (A) Aggregate principal amount of Bonds in respect of which Certificates have been deposited for conversion:
  - (B) Conversion Price on Conversion Date:
  - (C) Number of Shares issuable:

\_\_\_\_\_

The Conversion Agent must complete items 1, 2 and (if applicable) 3.

This Second Supplemental Agency Agreement has been entered into on the date stated at the beginning.
CHINA YUHUA EDUCATION CORPORATION LIMITED
as Issuer
By:

THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON, LONDON BRANCH as Trustee
By:

# THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON, LONDON BRANCH as Principal Agent By:....

# THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON SA/NV, LUXEMBOURG BRANCH as Registrar and Transfer Agent By:....